



**State of New Mexico  
Human Services Department  
Human Services Register**



**I. DEPARTMENT**

NEW MEXICO HUMAN SERVICES DEPARTMENT (HSD)

**II. SUBJECT**

8.50.108 NMAC – ESTABLISHMENT AND MODIFICATION OF SUPPORT ORDER  
(repeal and replace)

8.50.109 NMAC- MEDICAL SUPPORT (repeal and replace)

8.50.125. 10 Collections of Fees/Recoupments, 8.50.125.12 Distribution of Collections through  
Federal Income Tax Refund Offset,  
8.50.125.15 Assigned Medical Support Collections.

**III. PROGRAM AFFECTED**

(TITLE IV-D) Child Support Enforcement Division (n/k/a Child Support Services Division,  
CSSD)

**IV. ACTION**

PROPOSED RULES

**V. BACKGROUND SUMMARY**

The Human Services Department (the Department) through the Child Support Services Division (CSSD), is proposing to repeal and replace rules 8.50.108 NMAC - Establishment and Modification of Support Order (specifically sections 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 13, 14 and 15). The purpose of this rule is to establish the basic child support schedule by rule and provide an explanation of when a self-support reserve should be applied as 8.50.108.10 NMAC. The basic child support guideline schedule will be incorporated as Appendix 1. Section 8.50.108.10 Furnishing Consumer Reports for Certain Purposes Relating to Child Support will be moved to 8.50.108.15 NMAC.

The Department will also repeal and replace 8.50.109 NMAC - Medical Support (specifically sections 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 15 and 16). The purpose of replacing this rule eliminates the need for the IV-D agency to pursue a cash medical support obligation when child(ren)'s health care coverage is provided by a public entity. Health care coverage from a public entity satisfies health care coverage requirement of medical support obligor's minor child(ren).

There are proposed amendments to rules to rule 8.50.125.10 NMAC Collections of Fees/Recoupments, 8.50.125.12 NMAC and 8.50.125.15 NMAC to update fee schedule, clarify distribution of federal refund offsets and removes language pertaining to cash medical support, respectively.

In addition, minor edits, gender neutral language and clarity of rules are proposed throughout these sections.

The Human Services Department is authorized to propose and adopt rules under the Public Assistance Act, Section 27-2-1; Domestic Affairs Act Section 40-4-11.1 and 40-4C-3 NMSA 1978 (1992 Repl.).

Summary of proposed changes include:

**8.50.108 NMAC**

Repeal/replace to comply with federal regulations, state statutes, as well as NMAC rule requirements. (Specifically, sections 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 13, 14, 15).

**8.50.108.7 NMAC** Adding and defining “self-support reserve”.

**8.50.108.8 NMAC** Deleting and adding gender neutral language and adding language about health care coverage through a public entity and adding child(ren).

**8.50.108.9 NMAC** Adding language to consider labor market data when imputing income; adding language about the basic child support schedule and references to appendix. Adding language for statement of deviation. Deleting “will” and adding “may”.

**8.50.108.10 NMAC** Adding new title “Child Support Guideline Schedule and Self-Support Reserve” and the incorporation of Appendix 1 as the child support guideline schedule. Adding information about the basic support schedule, self support reserve, and shared responsibility arrangements. Deleting Default Judgment language and text and moving it to 8.50.108.11.

**8.50.108.11 NMAC** Adding title and text for Default Judgment. Deleting title and text of Furnishing Consumer Reports for Certain Purposes Relating to Child Support to move to 8.50.108.15.

**8.50.108.13 NMAC** Deleting and adding gender neutral language and adding new language.

**8.50.108.14 NMAC** Deleting language referring to money collected. Deleting “in favor” adding language for legal action, mutually agreed upon, between and the IV-D agency.

**8.50.108.15 NMAC** Add new section for Furnishing Consumer Reports for Certain Purposes Relating to Child Support that was moved from section 8.50.108.11.

**8.50.109 NMAC**

Repeal/replace to comply with federal regulations, state statutes, as well as NMAC rule requirements. (Specifically, sections. 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 15, 16, 17).

**8.50.109.7 NMAC** Updating definition of “cash medical support” to remove language of payment toward the cost of health care coverage provided by a public entity and broadening definition of “health care coverage”.

**8.50.109.8 NMAC** Adding language of what is medical support includes. Removing language that IV-D agency will request a provision of cash medical support. Adding and deleting wording in reference to children and minor child(ren), Medicaid health coverage. Adding health care coverage. Clarifying reasonableness of cost and removing language pertaining to reasonable of cost.

**8.50.109.9 NMAC** Adding and deleting wording of paternity to parentage; order to orders and an to a support order. Removing wording - child or medical.

**8.50.109.10 NMAC** Removing child support order and replacing with support order. Adding the words “the” and child(ren) instead of children. Removing “not including Title XIX Medicaid”. Deleting wording of child support award, children, employers, party. Adding in child(ren), employer(s), parent, and minor child(ren).

**8.50.109.11 NMAC** Adding and deleting wording in reference to parents, parties, medical, health, dependent child and minor child(ren).

**8.50.109.12 NMAC** Adding language that the medical support obligor maintains recertification requirements as letter “I”. Deleting wording of children, health care coverage plan. Adding minor child(ren), qualified health care coverage plan and medical support. Deleting and relettering subsections.

**8.50.109.13 NMAC** Removing children and adding child(ren).

**8.50.109.15 NMAC** Removing language that “IV-D agency will request a provision of cash medical support only if the children are actively enrolled in Title XIX Medicaid”. Deleting “court” and adding support.

**8.50.109.16 NMAC** Remove language pertaining to distribution and clarifying cash medical support distribution to the custodial parent. Adding language that IV-D agency will not pursue cash medical support on cases where the child(ren) receive health care coverage through a public entity.

**8.50.109.17 NMAC** Removing children and adding minor child(ren).

**8.50.125.10 NMAC** Deleting language related to fee types. Removing “tax intercept related” Adding “parental kidnapping locator”; “bad check” and “recoupment” to fees. Re-numbering.

**8.50.125.12 NMAC**

Clarifying: distribution rules for collections for “former assistance cases” made effective on or before January 23, 2023 and distribution rules for former assistance cases after January 23, 2023.

Adding: Re-numbering and adding information to subsection B.

### **8.50.125.15 NMAC**

Deleting: language pertaining to the collection and distribution a specific dollar amount of medical support with an assignment to the state as recovery for Title XIX (Medicaid).

Adding language that cash medical support for reimbursement of the Title XIX will no longer be pursued.

## **VI. RULES**

These proposed rules will be contained in 8.50.108.7; 8.50.108.9; 8.50.108.10; 8.50.108.11; 8.50.108.13; 8.50.108.14; 8.50.108.15; 8.50.109.7; 8.50.109.8; 8.50.109.9; 8.50.109.10; 8.50.109.10; 8.50.109.11; 8.50.109.12; 8.50.109.15; 8.50.109.16; 8.109.17; 8.50.125.10; 8.50.125.12 and 8.50.125.15.

Copy of proposed rules: This register and the proposed changes are available on the Department’s website at <https://www.hsd.state.nm.us/lookingforinformation/child-support-enforcement-division-registers/>. If you do not have internet access, a copy of the proposed rules may be requested by contacting the CSSD at (505) 709-5755.

## **VII. EFFECTIVE DATE**

The Department proposes to implement these rules effective January 1, 2024.

## **VIII. PUBLIC HEARING**

A public hearing to receive testimony on these proposed rules will be held in person and online on Thursday, October 12, 2023 from 10:00 am to 11:00am MST.

**In person:** 1474 Rodeo Rd., Santa Fe, New Mexico, in the large HSD/ASD conference room on the first floor.

### **Online:**

#### **Rulemaking Public Hearing**

Oct 12, 2023, 10:00 – 11:00 AM (America/Denver)

**Please join my meeting from your computer, tablet or smartphone.**

<https://meet.goto.com/447636325>

**You can also dial in using your phone.**

Access Code: 447-636-325

United States: [+1 \(872\) 240-3212](tel:+18722403212)

**Get the app now and be ready when your first meeting starts:**

<https://meet.goto.com/install>

If you are a person with a disability and you require this information in an alternative format or require a special accommodation to participate in the public hearing, please contact the Division toll free at 1-800-432-6217. The Department’s TDD system may be accessed toll-free at 1-800-659-8331. The Department requests at least 10 days advance notice to provide requested alternative formats and special accommodations.

## IX. ADDRESS

Interested persons may address written comments to:

Human Services Department  
ATTN: Child Support Services Division Public Comments  
P.O. Box 2348  
Santa Fe, New Mexico 87504-2348

Recorded comments may be left at (505) 709-5755. Interested persons may also address comments via electronic mail to: [john.lujan2@hsd.nm.gov](mailto:john.lujan2@hsd.nm.gov). Written mail, electronic mail and recorded comments must be received no later than 5 p.m. MST on October 12, 2023. Written and recorded comments will be given the same consideration as oral testimony made at the public hearing. The public comment period is from September 12, 2023 to October 12, 2023 at 5pm (MDT). Copies of all comments will be made available by CSSD upon request by providing copies directly to a requestor or by making them available on the HSD website within 3 days of receipt or at a location within the county of the requestor.

## X. PUBLICATIONS

Publication of these rules approved by:

DocuSigned by:  
  
1BA9EB5EAD00499...

KARI ARMIJO, ACTING SECRETARY  
HUMAN SERVICES DEPARTMENT

**S23TITLE 8 SOCIAL SERVICESF**  
**CHAPTER 50 CHILD SUPPORT ENFORCEMENT PROGRAM**  
**PART 108 ESTABLISHMENT AND MODIFICATION OF SUPPORT ORDER**

**8.50.108.1 ISSUING AGENCY:** New Mexico Human Services Department - Child Support Enforcement Division.  
[8.50.108.1 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.108.1 NMAC, xx/xx/2023]

**8.50.108.2 SCOPE:** To the general public. For use by the Title IV-D agency and recipients of IV-D services.  
[8.50.108.2 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.108.2 NMAC, xx/xx/2023]

**8.50.108.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:** Public Assistance Act, Section 27-2-27 et seq., NMSA 1978. The human services department is designated as the single state agency for the enforcement of child and spousal support obligations pursuant to Title IV-D of the Social Security Act (42 USC 651 et. seq.).  
[8.50.108.3 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.108.3 NMAC, xx/xx/2023]

**8.50.108.4 DURATION:** Permanent.  
[8.50.108.4 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.108.4 NMAC, xx/xx/2023]

**8.50.108.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:** **XXXXXXXX xx, 2023**, unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.  
[8.50.108.5 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.108.5 NMAC, xx/xx/2023]

**8.50.108.6 OBJECTIVE:** To provide regulations in accordance with federal and state law and regulations.  
[8.50.108.6 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.108.6 NMAC, xx/xx/2023]

**8.50.108.7 DEFINITIONS:** ~~[RESERVED]~~ The following definitions apply to this part. Additional definitions may be found under the general provisions at 8.50.100.7 NMAC.  
[See 8.50.100.7 NMAC]

**A. “Self-support reserve”** means the support calculation ensures the payer parent has sufficient income to maintain a minimum standard of living. The self-support reserve is \$1,200 per month for one person which is slightly higher than 100% of the federal poverty guideline.  
[8.50.108.7 NMAC - N, xx/xx/2023]

**8.50.108.8 ESTABLISHMENT OF SUPPORT ORDER:** If parentage has been legally established, and there is no support order in existence, the IV-D agency will pursue the establishment of a support order, as appropriate, pursuant to the requirements under 45 CFR §303.4(b)(1-4). All support orders obtained by the IV-D agency shall include a provision requiring the parties to keep the IV-D agency informed of their current addresses and, if the party is a parent, to also provide the name and address of ~~[his or her]~~ their current employer, whether the parent has access to medical insurance coverage at reasonable cost, including health care coverage through a public entity and, if so, the medical insurance policy information.

**A. Immediate income withholding:** The IV-D agency will request an income withholding provision in accordance with the Support Enforcement Act, Section 40-4A1 et seq., NMSA 1978. The IV-D agency will not agree to an exception to wage withholding, but will honor any court or administrative order that waives or excepts wage withholding. All payments on Title IV-D cases, whether paid through income withholding, direct withdrawal, or direct payment by the non-custodial parent shall be paid through the IV-D agency. If the custodial party obtains an order in a IV-D case for direct payments to ~~[him or her]~~ them, the IV-D agency will begin non-cooperation procedures in active IV-A cases and close cases with no public assistance history.

**B. Persons and agencies the IV-D agency will assist to establish a support order:**

- (1) parent;
- (2) legal guardian by court or administrative order;
- (3) legal custodian by court or administrative order;
- (4) IV-B or IV-E agency;
- (5) another IV-D agency, state, U.S. territory or country pursuant to the Uniform Interstate Family Support Act, Section 40-6A-101 et seq., NMSA 1978, or reciprocal international agreements.

C. Public assistance: If a dependent child receives public assistance, the IV-D agency will pursue a support order against the non-custodial parent, unless the IV-D agency determines that the case involves rape, incest, or it would not be in the best interest of the child(ren). If neither parent has custody of the child, the IV-D agency will pursue a support order against both parents. If the custodian of the ~~[children]~~ child(ren) receiving public assistance does not have legal standing to pursue support, the IV-D agency will seek to establish a support order solely in favor of the state as reimbursement for public assistance benefits expended on behalf of the child(ren) in accordance with the child support guidelines.

[8.50.108.8 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.108.8 NMAC, xx/xx/2023]

**8.50.108.9 CHILD SUPPORT AWARD GUIDELINES:** The IV-D agency uses income information provided to the agency by the parties or other sources to apply the child support guidelines in Section 40-4-11.1., NMSA 1978 and the basic child support schedule now incorporated here as Appendix 1. If exact income information is unavailable, or if a party's earnings history is below minimum wage, the IV-D agency ~~[will]~~ may seek to impute income to a party, provided that the amount of support is established based on consideration of the required factors under 45 CFR §302.56(a-c). Many low wage jobs offer less than 40 hours per week, so local labor market data shall be considered when imputing income. A request for retroactive support by the IV-D agency will only be for the minimal period in accordance with New Mexico law. The custodial party may seek a longer retroactive period in accordance with the law and is solely responsible for providing all documentation, presenting all evidence, and making all arguments at any hearing or during negotiations in support for the additional time period. The amount of retroactive support requested by the IV-D agency on behalf of the state or for a custodial party will be in accordance with the child support guidelines established pursuant to 45 CFR §302.56(f-h), or as otherwise stipulated to by the parties. Incarceration may not be treated as voluntary unemployment when a support order is being established, 45 CFR §302.56 (c)(3). Any deviations from the guidelines will contain a statement of the reason for deviation and shall be in accordance with Section 40-4-11.2., NMSA 1978.

[8.50.108.9 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.108.9 NMAC, xx/xx/2023]

**8.50.108.10 CHILD SUPPORT GUIDELINE SCHEDULE AND SELF-SUPPORT RESERVE:**

A. In any action to establish or modify child support, the child support guidelines schedule as set forth in this section shall be applied to determine the child support due and shall be a rebuttable presumption for the amount of such child support. The basic child support schedule is reviewed quadrennially by the child support guideline commission pursuant to Section 40-4-11.3 NMSA.

B. Effective January 1, 2024, the basic child support schedule incorporates a self-support reserve (SSR). The SSR is demonstrated in the shaded area of the basic child support schedule and provides that if the payer parent's income and number of children fall into the shaded area, only the payer-parent's income is considered in the child support calculation. As a result, the payer-parent is 100% responsible for SSR adjusted child support obligation from the schedule. This ensures that the SSR is effective at considering basic subsistence needs of the payer-parent who has a limited ability to pay, even if the other parent has significantly more income and their combined income is above the SSR adjusted area of the schedule. Support calculation using the SSR method is reliant on using a worksheet A only and should not take into consideration childcare cost, medical expenses to include insurance premiums, and other appropriate expenses that are otherwise considered by the child support guidelines pursuant to Section 40-4-11.1 NMSA, 1978.

C. For shared responsibility arrangements, the basic child support obligation shall be calculated using the basic child support schedule, worksheet B and instructions contained in Subsection M of Section 40-4-11 NMSA 1978. Support calculations using worksheet B are not subject to the SSR method.

[8.50.108.10 NMAC – N, xx/xx/2023]

~~[8.50.108.10]~~ **8.50.108.11 DEFAULT JUDGMENT:** The IV-D agency may seek entry of a default order by the court or administrative authority according to state law and rules of procedure regarding default orders.

[8.50.108.10 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.108.10 NMAC, xx/xx/2023]

~~[8.50.108.11] — FURNISHING CONSUMER REPORTS FOR CERTAIN PURPOSES RELATING TO CHILD SUPPORT:~~ Section 604 of the Fair Credit Reporting Act (15 U.S.C. 1681b) authorizes the release of information contained in a non-custodial parent's credit report to the New Mexico IV-D agency. The information obtained from the consumer reporting agency is to be used solely for the purpose of establishing or modifying an order of support.

~~[8.50.108.11 NMAC — Rp, 8.50.108.11 NMAC, xx/xx/2023]~~

**8.50.108.12 MODIFICATION OF CHILD SUPPORT ORDERS:** Either party may request the IV-D agency to provide the service of seeking the modification of a child support order. Applicable fees will be charged to the requesting party in compliance with 8.50.125.10 NMAC. The IV-D agency may seek a modification if the non-custodial parent will be incarcerated for more than 180 calendar days. The IV-D agency will not review a child support order for modification without request by a party, unless the custodial party is currently receiving public assistance. In accordance with federal and state laws, a modification of a support order is retroactive only to the time period that a petition or motion was filed with a court and was pending a decision.  
[8.50.108.12 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.108.12 NMAC, xx/xx/2023]

**8.50.108.13 REVIEW AND ADJUSTMENT OF SUPPORT ORDERS:** The IV-D agency conducts a review for modification of support orders in the IV-D caseload three years from the effective date of the last support order. At the time of review, if the case is actively receiving public assistance, the IV-D agency must pursue a modification either upward or downward if its review indicates that there will be at least a twenty percent change from the current obligation of support. The review is conducted based on information provided by the parties and other sources that report income. Both parties are sent notice at the time of review to request current information from them regarding income, childcare costs, medical expenses to include insurance premiums, and any other appropriate expenses that are considered by the child support guidelines. Both parties are notified of the result of the review conducted by the IV-D agency. If the IV-D agency chooses not to pursue a modification, any party may independently pursue ~~his or her~~ their own request for a modification of a support order. The State may initiate a review of an order, without a specific request for review, if information is received by the IV-D agency that the non-custodial parent will be incarcerated for more than 180 calendar days, pursuant to the conditions specified in 45 CFR §303.8(b)(2), (7), and (c). Under 45 CFR §302.56 (c)(3), incarceration may not be treated as voluntary unemployment when a support order is being modified.  
[8.50.108.13 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.108.13 NMAC, xx/xx/2023]

**8.50.108.14 PROVISION OF SERVICES TO IV-B AND IV-E PROGRAMS:** Upon request for services from the state IV-B or IV-E program, the IV-D agency will review its caseload to determine if there is an active IV-D case. The IV-D agency will send a letter to both the custodial party and non-custodial parent(s) notifying them that the IV-B or IV-E agency has requested services due to the minor child(ren) being in state custody. If there is a current order of support in place, ~~[all money collected on the case or cases by the Title IV-D agency will be placed on hold pending an order by a district court regarding the distribution of the money or a withdrawal of the claim by the IV-B or IV-E agency for re-directed payments]~~ the IV-D agency will review the case for appropriate legal action. If there is not a current support order in place, the IV-D agency will work with the IV-B or IV-E agency to obtain a mutually agreed upon support order ~~[in favor]~~ between of the IV-B or IV-E agency and the IV-D agency.  
[8.50.108.14 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.108.14 NMAC xx/xx/2023]

~~[8.50.108.11]~~ **8.50.108.15 FURNISHING CONSUMER REPORTS FOR CERTAIN PURPOSES RELATING TO CHILD SUPPORT:** Section 604 of the Fair Credit Reporting Act (15 U.S.C. 1681b) authorizes the release of information contained in a non-custodial parent's credit report to the New Mexico IV-D agency. The information obtained from the consumer reporting agency is to be used solely for the purpose of establishing or modifying an order of support.  
[8.50.108.11 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.108.11 NMAC, xx/xx/2023]

**History of 8.50.108 NMAC:**

Pre-NMAC History: The material in this part was derived from that previously filed with the State Records Center and Archives:

ISD CSEB 501.1100, State and Local Requirements, filed 6/23/1980.

**NMAC History:**

8 NMAC 5.CSE.000 through 8 NMAC 5.CSE.970, filed 12/30/1994.

**History of Repealed Material:**

8 NMAC 5.CSE, Child Support Enforcement, filed 12/30/94 - Repealed effective 5/31/2001.

8.50.108 NMAC, Establishment of Support Order, filed 5/14/2001 - Repealed effective 1/1/2010.



8.50.108 NMAC, Establishment of Support Order, filed 12/30/2009 - Repealed effective xx/xx/2023.

**Other History:**

8.50.108 NMAC, Establishment of Support Order, filed 12/30/2009 - Replaced by 8.50.108 NMAC, Establishment of Support Order, effective xx/xx/2023.

**APPENDIX 1**  
Basic Child Support Schedule

Both Parents' Combined Adjusted Gross Income (or, the parent payer's income only, if income and number of children fall within the shaded area).	One Child	Two Children	Three Children	Four Children	Five Children	Six Children
0 - 1,450	60	75	90	105	120	135
1,451 - 1,500	89	90	91	116	125	146
1,501 - 1,550	124	126	127	128	130	157
1,551 - 1,600	159	161	163	164	166	168
1,601 - 1,650	194	196	198	201	203	205
1,651 - 1,700	229	232	234	237	239	242
1,701 - 1,750	264	267	270	273	276	279
1,751 - 1,800	299	302	306	309	312	316
1,801 - 1,850	332	338	341	345	349	352
1,851 - 1,900	340	373	377	381	385	389
1,901 - 1,950	348	408	413	417	422	426
1,951 - 2,000	356	443	448	452	457	462
2,001 - 2,050	364	477	482	488	493	498
2,051 - 2,100	372	511	517	523	528	534
2,101 - 2,150	380	546	552	558	564	570
2,151 - 2,200	388	580	586	593	599	606
2,201 - 2,250	396	603	621	628	635	641
2,251 - 2,300	404	615	656	663	670	677
2,301 - 2,350	412	627	691	698	706	713
2,351 - 2,400	420	639	725	733	741	749
2,401 - 2,450	428	651	760	768	776	785
2,451 - 2,500	436	663	795	803	812	821
2,501 - 2,550	444	675	816	838	847	856
2,551 - 2,600	451	688	831	873	883	892
2,601 - 2,650	459	700	846	913	923	932
2,651 - 2,700	467	712	860	953	963	972
2,701 - 2,750	475	724	875	977	1003	1012
2,751 - 2,800	483	736	890	994	1043	1052
2,801 - 2,850	491	748	904	1010	1083	1092
2,851 - 2,900	499	760	919	1027	1123	1132
2,901 - 2,950	507	772	934	1043	1147	1172

2,951	-	3,000	515	784	948	1059	1165	1212
3,001	-	3,050	523	797	963	1076	1183	1252
3,051	-	3,100	531	809	978	1092	1201	1292
3,101	-	3,150	539	821	992	1108	1219	1325
3,151	-	3,200	547	833	1007	1125	1237	1345
3,201	-	3,250	555	845	1022	1141	1255	1364
3,251	-	3,300	563	857	1036	1158	1273	1384
3,301	-	3,350	571	869	1051	1174	1291	1404
3,351	-	3,400	579	881	1066	1190	1309	1423
3,401	-	3,450	587	894	1080	1207	1327	1443
3,451	-	3,500	595	906	1095	1223	1345	1462
3,501	-	3,550	603	918	1110	1239	1363	1482
3,551	-	3,600	611	930	1124	1256	1381	1502
3,601	-	3,650	619	942	1139	1272	1399	1521
3,651	-	3,700	627	954	1154	1289	1417	1541
3,701	-	3,750	635	966	1168	1305	1435	1560
3,751	-	3,800	643	978	1183	1321	1453	1580
3,801	-	3,850	651	991	1198	1338	1471	1599
3,851	-	3,900	659	1003	1212	1354	1489	1619
3,901	-	3,950	666	1014	1225	1368	1505	1636
3,951	-	4,000	674	1024	1237	1382	1520	1652
4,001	-	4,050	682	1035	1249	1395	1535	1668
4,051	-	4,100	690	1045	1261	1409	1549	1684
4,101	-	4,150	698	1056	1273	1422	1564	1700
4,151	-	4,200	706	1066	1285	1435	1579	1716
4,201	-	4,250	714	1077	1297	1449	1594	1732
4,251	-	4,300	722	1087	1309	1462	1609	1748
4,301	-	4,350	730	1098	1321	1476	1623	1765
4,351	-	4,400	738	1108	1333	1489	1638	1781
4,401	-	4,450	746	1119	1345	1503	1653	1797
4,451	-	4,500	754	1129	1357	1516	1668	1813
4,501	-	4,550	762	1140	1369	1529	1682	1829
4,551	-	4,600	769	1151	1383	1544	1699	1847
4,601	-	4,650	775	1161	1395	1558	1714	1863
4,651	-	4,700	781	1171	1407	1571	1728	1879
4,701	-	4,750	788	1182	1419	1585	1743	1895
4,751	-	4,800	794	1192	1431	1598	1758	1911
4,801	-	4,850	800	1202	1443	1612	1773	1927
4,851	-	4,900	806	1212	1455	1625	1788	1943
4,901	-	4,950	813	1222	1467	1639	1802	1959
4,951	-	5,000	819	1233	1479	1652	1817	1975
5,001	-	5,050	825	1243	1491	1665	1832	1991
5,051	-	5,100	831	1253	1503	1679	1847	2008

5,101	-	5,150	838	1263	1515	1692	1862	2024
5,151	-	5,200	844	1273	1527	1706	1876	2040
5,201	-	5,250	850	1284	1539	1719	1891	2056
5,251	-	5,300	856	1293	1550	1732	1905	2070
5,301	-	5,350	861	1300	1559	1742	1916	2082
5,351	-	5,400	866	1308	1568	1752	1927	2094
5,401	-	5,450	871	1316	1577	1762	1938	2106
5,451	-	5,500	876	1323	1586	1772	1949	2118
5,501	-	5,550	881	1331	1595	1782	1960	2131
5,551	-	5,600	886	1338	1604	1792	1971	2143
5,601	-	5,650	892	1346	1613	1802	1982	2155
5,651	-	5,700	897	1354	1622	1812	1993	2167
5,701	-	5,750	902	1361	1631	1822	2004	2179
5,751	-	5,800	907	1369	1640	1832	2015	2191
5,801	-	5,850	912	1376	1649	1842	2026	2203
5,851	-	5,900	917	1384	1658	1852	2037	2215
5,901	-	5,950	922	1392	1667	1862	2048	2227
5,951	-	6,000	927	1399	1676	1872	2059	2239
6,001	-	6,050	931	1405	1683	1879	2067	2247
6,051	-	6,100	934	1409	1688	1885	2074	2254
6,101	-	6,150	937	1414	1693	1891	2080	2261
6,151	-	6,200	940	1418	1698	1897	2086	2268
6,201	-	6,250	944	1423	1703	1902	2092	2274
6,251	-	6,300	947	1427	1708	1908	2099	2281
6,301	-	6,350	950	1432	1713	1914	2105	2288
6,351	-	6,400	953	1436	1718	1919	2111	2295
6,401	-	6,450	956	1441	1723	1925	2117	2302
6,451	-	6,500	959	1445	1728	1931	2124	2309
6,501	-	6,550	962	1450	1734	1936	2130	2315
6,551	-	6,600	965	1454	1739	1942	2136	2322
6,601	-	6,650	969	1459	1744	1948	2143	2329
6,651	-	6,700	972	1463	1749	1953	2149	2336
6,701	-	6,750	975	1468	1754	1959	2155	2343
6,751	-	6,800	978	1471	1757	1962	2159	2346
6,801	-	6,850	980	1474	1759	1965	2162	2350
6,851	-	6,900	983	1477	1762	1968	2165	2353
6,901	-	6,950	986	1481	1765	1971	2168	2357
6,951	-	7,000	989	1484	1767	1974	2172	2360
7,001	-	7,050	992	1487	1770	1977	2175	2364
7,051	-	7,100	995	1490	1773	1980	2178	2368
7,101	-	7,150	997	1494	1775	1983	2181	2371
7,151	-	7,200	1000	1497	1778	1986	2185	2375
7,201	-	7,250	1003	1500	1781	1989	2188	2378

7,251	-	7,300	1006	1503	1783	1992	2191	2382
7,301	-	7,350	1009	1507	1786	1995	2194	2385
7,351	-	7,400	1011	1510	1788	1998	2198	2389
7,401	-	7,450	1014	1513	1791	2001	2201	2392
7,451	-	7,500	1017	1517	1795	2005	2206	2398
7,501	-	7,550	1021	1524	1804	2015	2216	2409
7,551	-	7,600	1025	1530	1813	2025	2227	2421
7,601	-	7,650	1029	1537	1821	2035	2238	2433
7,651	-	7,700	1033	1544	1830	2044	2249	2444
7,701	-	7,750	1037	1550	1839	2054	2260	2456
7,751	-	7,800	1041	1557	1848	2064	2270	2468
7,801	-	7,850	1045	1563	1857	2074	2281	2480
7,851	-	7,900	1049	1570	1865	2084	2292	2491
7,901	-	7,950	1053	1577	1874	2093	2303	2503
7,951	-	8,000	1057	1583	1883	2103	2314	2515
8,001	-	8,050	1061	1590	1892	2113	2324	2527
8,051	-	8,100	1065	1597	1900	2123	2335	2538
8,101	-	8,150	1069	1603	1909	2133	2346	2550
8,151	-	8,200	1073	1610	1918	2142	2357	2562
8,201	-	8,250	1076	1615	1924	2149	2363	2569
8,251	-	8,300	1078	1617	1926	2151	2366	2572
8,301	-	8,350	1080	1620	1928	2154	2369	2575
8,351	-	8,400	1083	1623	1930	2156	2372	2578
8,401	-	8,450	1085	1626	1932	2159	2374	2581
8,451	-	8,500	1088	1628	1935	2161	2377	2584
8,501	-	8,550	1090	1631	1937	2164	2380	2587
8,551	-	8,600	1092	1634	1939	2166	2383	2590
8,601	-	8,650	1095	1636	1941	2168	2385	2593
8,651	-	8,700	1097	1639	1943	2171	2388	2596
8,701	-	8,750	1099	1642	1946	2173	2390	2598
8,751	-	8,800	1102	1644	1948	2176	2393	2601
8,801	-	8,850	1104	1647	1950	2178	2396	2604
8,851	-	8,900	1106	1650	1952	2180	2398	2607
8,901	-	8,950	1109	1652	1954	2183	2401	2610
8,951	-	9,000	1111	1656	1957	2186	2405	2614
9,001	-	9,050	1115	1660	1962	2191	2410	2620
9,051	-	9,100	1118	1664	1966	2196	2416	2626
9,101	-	9,150	1121	1668	1970	2201	2421	2632
9,151	-	9,200	1124	1673	1975	2206	2426	2637
9,201	-	9,250	1128	1677	1979	2210	2432	2643
9,251	-	9,300	1131	1681	1983	2215	2437	2649
9,301	-	9,350	1134	1685	1988	2220	2442	2655
9,351	-	9,400	1137	1690	1992	2225	2447	2660

9,401	-	9,450	1140	1694	1996	2230	2453	2666
9,451	-	9,500	1144	1698	2000	2234	2458	2672
9,501	-	9,550	1147	1702	2005	2239	2463	2677
9,551	-	9,600	1150	1707	2009	2244	2468	2683
9,601	-	9,650	1153	1711	2013	2249	2474	2689
9,651	-	9,700	1157	1715	2018	2254	2479	2695
9,701	-	9,750	1160	1720	2023	2260	2486	2702
9,751	-	9,800	1165	1727	2030	2268	2495	2712
9,801	-	9,850	1170	1734	2038	2276	2504	2722
9,851	-	9,900	1175	1740	2045	2285	2513	2732
9,901	-	9,950	1180	1747	2053	2293	2522	2742
9,951	-	10,000	1184	1754	2060	2301	2532	2752
10,001	-	10,050	1189	1761	2068	2310	2541	2762
10,051	-	10,100	1194	1767	2075	2318	2550	2772
10,101	-	10,150	1199	1774	2083	2326	2559	2782
10,151	-	10,200	1204	1781	2090	2335	2568	2792
10,201	-	10,250	1208	1788	2098	2343	2577	2802
10,251	-	10,300	1213	1794	2105	2351	2587	2812
10,301	-	10,350	1218	1801	2113	2360	2596	2822
10,351	-	10,400	1223	1808	2120	2368	2605	2832
10,401	-	10,450	1228	1815	2128	2376	2614	2842
10,451	-	10,500	1232	1821	2135	2385	2623	2851
10,501	-	10,550	1237	1828	2142	2393	2632	2861
10,551	-	10,600	1242	1835	2150	2401	2642	2871
10,601	-	10,650	1247	1842	2157	2410	2651	2881
10,651	-	10,700	1252	1848	2165	2418	2660	2891
10,701	-	10,750	1256	1855	2172	2426	2669	2901
10,751	-	10,800	1261	1862	2180	2435	2678	2911
10,801	-	10,850	1266	1869	2187	2443	2687	2921
10,851	-	10,900	1270	1875	2195	2452	2697	2931
10,901	-	10,950	1274	1881	2202	2460	2706	2941
10,951	-	11,000	1277	1886	2210	2468	2715	2951
11,001	-	11,050	1281	1892	2217	2477	2724	2961
11,051	-	11,100	1284	1898	2225	2485	2734	2972
11,101	-	11,150	1288	1904	2232	2494	2743	2982
11,151	-	11,200	1291	1909	2240	2502	2752	2992
11,201	-	11,250	1295	1915	2247	2510	2761	3002
11,251	-	11,300	1298	1921	2255	2519	2771	3012
11,301	-	11,350	1302	1927	2262	2527	2780	3022
11,351	-	11,400	1305	1933	2270	2536	2789	3032
11,401	-	11,450	1309	1938	2278	2544	2798	3042
11,451	-	11,500	1312	1944	2285	2552	2808	3052
11,501	-	11,550	1316	1950	2293	2561	2817	3062

11,551	-	11,600	1319	1956	2300	2569	2826	3072
11,601	-	11,650	1323	1961	2308	2578	2835	3082
11,651	-	11,700	1326	1967	2315	2586	2845	3092
11,701	-	11,750	1330	1973	2323	2594	2854	3102
11,751	-	11,800	1333	1979	2330	2603	2863	3112
11,801	-	11,850	1337	1985	2338	2611	2872	3122
11,851	-	11,900	1340	1990	2345	2620	2882	3132
11,901	-	11,950	1344	1996	2353	2628	2891	3142
11,951	-	12,000	1347	2002	2360	2636	2900	3152
12,001	-	12,050	1350	2006	2365	2642	2906	3159
12,051	-	12,100	1353	2010	2369	2646	2911	3164
12,101	-	12,150	1356	2014	2373	2651	2916	3170
12,151	-	12,200	1358	2018	2378	2656	2921	3176
12,201	-	12,250	1361	2021	2382	2660	2927	3181
12,251	-	12,300	1364	2026	2387	2666	2932	3188
12,301	-	12,350	1367	2030	2391	2670	2938	3193
12,351	-	12,400	1370	2034	2395	2676	2943	3199
12,401	-	12,450	1373	2038	2400	2681	2949	3205
12,451	-	12,500	1376	2042	2405	2686	2954	3211
12,501	-	12,550	1379	2046	2409	2691	2960	3218
12,551	-	12,600	1382	2050	2414	2696	2966	3224
12,601	-	12,650	1385	2055	2418	2701	2971	3230
12,651	-	12,700	1388	2059	2423	2706	2977	3236
12,701	-	12,750	1391	2063	2427	2711	2983	3242
12,751	-	12,800	1394	2067	2432	2717	2988	3248
12,801	-	12,850	1397	2071	2437	2722	2994	3254
12,851	-	12,900	1400	2076	2441	2727	2999	3260
12,901	-	12,950	1403	2080	2446	2732	3005	3267
12,951	-	13,000	1406	2084	2450	2737	3011	3273
13,001	-	13,050	1409	2088	2455	2742	3016	3279
13,051	-	13,100	1413	2093	2460	2748	3023	3285
13,101	-	13,150	1417	2098	2465	2754	3029	3293
13,151	-	13,200	1420	2103	2471	2760	3036	3300
13,201	-	13,250	1424	2108	2476	2765	3042	3307
13,251	-	13,300	1428	2113	2481	2771	3049	3314
13,301	-	13,350	1432	2119	2486	2777	3055	3321
13,351	-	13,400	1436	2124	2492	2783	3062	3328
13,401	-	13,450	1440	2129	2497	2789	3068	3335
13,451	-	13,500	1444	2134	2502	2795	3075	3342
13,501	-	13,550	1447	2139	2508	2801	3081	3349
13,551	-	13,600	1451	2144	2513	2807	3088	3356
13,601	-	13,650	1455	2149	2518	2813	3094	3363
13,651	-	13,700	1459	2154	2523	2819	3101	3370

13,701	-	13,750	1463	2160	2529	2825	3107	3377
13,751	-	13,800	1467	2165	2534	2831	3114	3384
13,801	-	13,850	1471	2170	2539	2836	3120	3392
13,851	-	13,900	1475	2175	2545	2842	3127	3399
13,901	-	13,950	1478	2180	2550	2848	3133	3406
13,951	-	14,000	1482	2185	2555	2854	3140	3413
14,001	-	14,050	1486	2190	2561	2860	3146	3420
14,051	-	14,100	1490	2196	2566	2866	3153	3427
14,101	-	14,150	1494	2201	2571	2872	3159	3434
14,151	-	14,200	1498	2206	2576	2878	3166	3441
14,201	-	14,250	1502	2211	2582	2884	3172	3448
14,251	-	14,300	1506	2216	2587	2890	3179	3455
14,301	-	14,350	1509	2221	2592	2896	3185	3462
14,351	-	14,400	1513	2226	2598	2901	3192	3469
14,401	-	14,450	1517	2232	2603	2907	3198	3476
14,451	-	14,500	1520	2235	2606	2911	3202	3481
14,501	-	14,550	1522	2238	2609	2914	3206	3484
14,551	-	14,600	1525	2241	2612	2917	3209	3488
14,601	-	14,650	1527	2244	2615	2921	3213	3492
14,651	-	14,700	1530	2247	2618	2924	3217	3496
14,701	-	14,750	1532	2250	2621	2927	3220	3500
14,751	-	14,800	1535	2253	2624	2931	3224	3504
14,801	-	14,850	1537	2256	2627	2934	3227	3508
14,851	-	14,900	1539	2260	2630	2937	3231	3512
14,901	-	14,950	1542	2263	2633	2941	3235	3516
14,951	-	15,000	1544	2266	2636	2944	3238	3520
15,001	-	15,050	1547	2269	2639	2947	3242	3524
15,051	-	15,100	1549	2272	2641	2951	3246	3528
15,101	-	15,150	1552	2275	2644	2954	3249	3532
15,151	-	15,200	1554	2278	2647	2957	3253	3536
15,201	-	15,250	1557	2281	2650	2960	3256	3540
15,251	-	15,300	1559	2284	2653	2964	3260	3544
15,301	-	15,350	1561	2287	2656	2966	3263	3547
15,351	-	15,400	1563	2290	2658	2969	3266	3551
15,401	-	15,450	1566	2292	2661	2972	3270	3554
15,451	-	15,500	1568	2295	2664	2975	3273	3558
15,501	-	15,550	1570	2298	2666	2978	3276	3561
15,551	-	15,600	1572	2301	2669	2981	3279	3564
15,601	-	15,650	1574	2303	2671	2984	3282	3568
15,651	-	15,700	1576	2306	2674	2987	3286	3571
15,701	-	15,750	1579	2309	2677	2990	3289	3575
15,751	-	15,800	1581	2312	2679	2993	3292	3578
15,801	-	15,850	1583	2314	2682	2996	3295	3582



15,851	-	15,900	1585	2317	2685	2999	3299	3585
15,901	-	15,950	1589	2322	2691	3006	3306	3594
15,951	-	16,000	1593	2328	2698	3013	3315	3603
16,001	-	16,050	1597	2334	2705	3021	3323	3613
16,051	-	16,100	1601	2340	2712	3029	3332	3622
16,101	-	16,150	1605	2346	2719	3037	3341	3631
16,151	-	16,200	1609	2352	2726	3045	3349	3641
16,201	-	16,250	1613	2358	2733	3053	3358	3650
16,251	-	16,300	1617	2364	2740	3061	3367	3660
16,301	-	16,350	1621	2370	2747	3068	3375	3669
16,351	-	16,400	1625	2376	2754	3076	3384	3678
16,401	-	16,450	1629	2382	2761	3084	3393	3688
16,451	-	16,500	1633	2388	2768	3092	3401	3697
16,501	-	16,550	1637	2394	2775	3100	3410	3706
16,551	-	16,600	1641	2400	2782	3108	3418	3716
16,601	-	16,650	1645	2406	2789	3116	3427	3725
16,651	-	16,700	1649	2412	2796	3123	3436	3735
16,701	-	16,750	1653	2418	2803	3131	3444	3744
16,751	-	16,800	1657	2424	2810	3139	3453	3753
16,801	-	16,850	1661	2430	2817	3147	3461	3762
16,851	-	16,900	1665	2436	2824	3154	3470	3772
16,901	-	16,950	1669	2441	2831	3162	3478	3781
16,951	-	17,000	1673	2447	2838	3170	3487	3790
17,001	-	17,050	1677	2453	2845	3178	3495	3799
17,051	-	17,100	1681	2459	2852	3185	3504	3809
17,101	-	17,150	1685	2465	2859	3193	3512	3818
17,151	-	17,200	1689	2471	2865	3201	3521	3827
17,201	-	17,250	1693	2477	2872	3208	3529	3836
17,251	-	17,300	1697	2483	2879	3216	3538	3846
17,301	-	17,350	1701	2489	2886	3224	3546	3855
17,351	-	17,400	1705	2494	2893	3232	3555	3864
17,401	-	17,450	1709	2500	2900	3239	3563	3873
17,451	-	17,500	1713	2506	2907	3247	3572	3883
17,501	-	17,550	1717	2512	2914	3255	3580	3892
17,551	-	17,600	1721	2518	2921	3263	3589	3901
17,601	-	17,650	1725	2524	2928	3270	3597	3910
17,651	-	17,700	1729	2530	2935	3278	3606	3920
17,701	-	17,750	1733	2536	2942	3286	3614	3929
17,751	-	17,800	1737	2541	2949	3294	3623	3938
17,801	-	17,850	1740	2547	2956	3301	3631	3947
17,851	-	17,900	1744	2553	2962	3309	3640	3957
17,901	-	17,950	1748	2559	2969	3317	3648	3966
17,951	-	18,000	1752	2565	2976	3325	3657	3975

18,001	-	18,050	1756	2571	2983	3332	3666	3984
18,051	-	18,100	1760	2577	2990	3340	3674	3994
18,101	-	18,150	1764	2583	2997	3348	3682	4003
18,151	-	18,200	1768	2588	3004	3355	3691	4012
18,201	-	18,250	1772	2594	3011	3363	3699	4021
18,251	-	18,300	1776	2599	3016	3369	3706	4028
18,301	-	18,350	1779	2603	3020	3374	3711	4034
18,351	-	18,400	1782	2607	3025	3379	3716	4040
18,401	-	18,450	1785	2612	3029	3383	3722	4045
18,451	-	18,500	1788	2616	3033	3388	3727	4051
18,501	-	18,550	1791	2620	3037	3393	3732	4057
18,551	-	18,600	1794	2624	3042	3397	3737	4062
18,601	-	18,650	1797	2628	3046	3402	3742	4068
18,651	-	18,700	1800	2632	3050	3407	3748	4074
18,701	-	18,750	1804	2636	3054	3412	3753	4079
18,751	-	18,800	1807	2640	3058	3416	3758	4085
18,801	-	18,850	1810	2644	3063	3421	3763	4090
18,851	-	18,900	1813	2649	3067	3426	3768	4096
18,901	-	18,950	1816	2653	3071	3430	3773	4102
18,951	-	19,000	1819	2657	3075	3435	3779	4107
19,001	-	19,050	1822	2661	3080	3440	3784	4113
19,051	-	19,100	1825	2665	3084	3445	3789	4119
19,101	-	19,150	1828	2669	3088	3449	3794	4124
19,151	-	19,200	1831	2673	3092	3453	3799	4129
19,201	-	19,250	1834	2677	3096	3458	3804	4135
19,251	-	19,300	1837	2681	3100	3462	3809	4140
19,301	-	19,350	1840	2685	3104	3467	3814	4145
19,351	-	19,400	1843	2688	3108	3471	3819	4151
19,401	-	19,450	1846	2692	3112	3476	3823	4156
19,451	-	19,500	1849	2696	3116	3480	3828	4161
19,501	-	19,550	1852	2700	3120	3485	3833	4167
19,551	-	19,600	1855	2704	3124	3489	3838	4172
19,601	-	19,650	1858	2708	3128	3494	3843	4178
19,651	-	19,700	1861	2712	3132	3498	3848	4183
19,701	-	19,750	1864	2716	3136	3503	3853	4188
19,751	-	19,800	1867	2720	3140	3507	3858	4194
19,801	-	19,850	1870	2724	3144	3512	3863	4199
19,851	-	19,900	1873	2728	3148	3516	3868	4204
19,901	-	19,950	1876	2731	3152	3521	3873	4210
19,951	-	20,000	1879	2735	3156	3525	3878	4215
20,001	-	20,050	1882	2739	3160	3530	3883	4220
20,051	-	20,100	1885	2743	3164	3534	3887	4226
20,101	-	20,150	1887	2747	3168	3539	3892	4231

20,151	-	20,200	1890	2751	3172	3543	3897	4236
20,201	-	20,250	1893	2755	3176	3547	3902	4242
20,251	-	20,300	1896	2759	3180	3552	3907	4247
20,301	-	20,350	1899	2763	3184	3556	3912	4252
20,351	-	20,400	1902	2767	3188	3561	3917	4258
20,401	-	20,450	1905	2771	3192	3565	3922	4263
20,451	-	20,500	1908	2774	3196	3570	3927	4269
20,501	-	20,550	1911	2778	3200	3574	3932	4274
20,551	-	20,600	1914	2782	3204	3579	3937	4279
20,601	-	20,650	1917	2786	3208	3583	3942	4285
20,651	-	20,700	1920	2790	3212	3588	3947	4290
20,701	-	20,750	1923	2794	3216	3592	3951	4295
20,751	-	20,800	1926	2798	3220	3597	3956	4301
20,801	-	20,850	1929	2802	3224	3601	3961	4306
20,851	-	20,900	1932	2806	3228	3606	3966	4311
20,901	-	20,950	1935	2810	3232	3610	3971	4317
20,951	-	21,000	1938	2814	3236	3615	3976	4322
21,001	-	21,050	1941	2817	3240	3619	3981	4327
21,051	-	21,100	1944	2821	3244	3624	3986	4333
21,101	-	21,150	1947	2825	3248	3628	3991	4338
21,151	-	21,200	1950	2829	3252	3633	3996	4343
21,201	-	21,250	1953	2833	3256	3637	4001	4349
21,251	-	21,300	1955	2837	3260	3641	4006	4354
21,301	-	21,350	1958	2841	3264	3646	4011	4359
21,351	-	21,400	1961	2845	3268	3650	4015	4365
21,401	-	21,450	1964	2849	3272	3655	4020	4370
21,451	-	21,500	1967	2853	3276	3659	4025	4376
21,501	-	21,550	1970	2857	3280	3664	4030	4381
21,551	-	21,600	1973	2860	3284	3668	4035	4386
21,601	-	21,650	1976	2865	3289	3674	4041	4393
21,651	-	21,700	1979	2869	3295	3680	4049	4401
21,701	-	21,750	1981	2873	3301	3687	4056	4409
21,751	-	21,800	1984	2878	3307	3694	4063	4417
21,801	-	21,850	1986	2882	3313	3701	4071	4425
21,851	-	21,900	1989	2887	3319	3707	4078	4433
21,901	-	21,950	1992	2891	3325	3714	4086	4441
21,951	-	22,000	1994	2896	3331	3721	4093	4449
22,001	-	22,050	1997	2900	3337	3728	4100	4457
22,051	-	22,100	1999	2905	3343	3734	4108	4465
22,101	-	22,150	2002	2909	3349	3741	4115	4473
22,151	-	22,200	2005	2914	3355	3748	4122	4481
22,201	-	22,250	2007	2918	3361	3754	4130	4489
22,251	-	22,300	2010	2923	3367	3761	4137	4497

22,301	-	22,350	2012	2927	3373	3768	4145	4505
22,351	-	22,400	2015	2932	3379	3775	4152	4513
22,401	-	22,450	2018	2936	3385	3781	4159	4521
22,451	-	22,500	2020	2940	3391	3788	4167	4529
22,501	-	22,550	2023	2945	3397	3795	4174	4537
22,551	-	22,600	2025	2949	3403	3802	4182	4545
22,601	-	22,650	2028	2954	3409	3808	4189	4554
22,651	-	22,700	2031	2958	3415	3815	4196	4562
22,701	-	22,750	2033	2963	3421	3822	4204	4570
22,751	-	22,800	2036	2967	3427	3828	4211	4578
22,801	-	22,850	2038	2972	3433	3835	4219	4586
22,851	-	22,900	2041	2976	3439	3842	4226	4594
22,901	-	22,950	2044	2981	3445	3849	4233	4602
22,951	-	23,000	2046	2985	3451	3855	4241	4610
23,001	-	23,050	2049	2990	3458	3862	4248	4618
23,051	-	23,100	2051	2994	3464	3869	4256	4626
23,101	-	23,150	2054	2998	3470	3875	4263	4634
23,151	-	23,200	2057	3003	3476	3882	4270	4642
23,201	-	23,250	2059	3007	3482	3889	4278	4650
23,251	-	23,300	2062	3012	3488	3896	4285	4658
23,301	-	23,350	2064	3016	3494	3902	4293	4666
23,351	-	23,400	2067	3021	3500	3909	4300	4674
23,401	-	23,450	2070	3025	3506	3916	4307	4682
23,451	-	23,500	2072	3030	3512	3923	4315	4690
23,501	-	23,550	2075	3034	3518	3929	4322	4698
23,551	-	23,600	2077	3039	3524	3936	4330	4706
23,601	-	23,650	2080	3043	3530	3943	4337	4714
23,651	-	23,700	2083	3048	3536	3949	4344	4722
23,701	-	23,750	2085	3052	3542	3956	4352	4730
23,751	-	23,800	2088	3057	3548	3963	4359	4738
23,801	-	23,850	2090	3061	3554	3970	4367	4746
23,851	-	23,900	2093	3065	3560	3976	4374	4755
23,901	-	23,950	2096	3070	3566	3983	4381	4763
23,951	-	24,000	2098	3074	3572	3990	4389	4771
24,001	-	24,050	2101	3079	3578	3997	4396	4779
24,051	-	24,100	2103	3083	3584	4003	4404	4787
24,101	-	24,150	2106	3088	3590	4010	4411	4795
24,151	-	24,200	2109	3092	3596	4017	4418	4803
24,201	-	24,250	2111	3097	3602	4023	4426	4811
24,251	-	24,300	2114	3101	3608	4030	4433	4819
24,301	-	24,350	2116	3106	3614	4037	4441	4827
24,351	-	24,400	2119	3110	3620	4044	4448	4835
24,401	-	24,450	2122	3115	3626	4050	4455	4843

24,451	-	24,500	2124	3119	3632	4057	4463	4851
24,501	-	24,550	2127	3123	3638	4064	4470	4859
24,551	-	24,600	2129	3128	3644	4070	4478	4867
24,601	-	24,650	2132	3132	3650	4077	4485	4875
24,651	-	24,700	2134	3137	3656	4084	4492	4883
24,701	-	24,750	2137	3141	3662	4091	4500	4891
24,751	-	24,800	2140	3146	3668	4097	4507	4899
24,801	-	24,850	2142	3150	3674	4104	4515	4907
24,851	-	24,900	2145	3155	3680	4111	4522	4915
24,901	-	24,950	2147	3159	3686	4118	4529	4923
24,951	-	25,000	2150	3164	3692	4124	4537	4931
25,001	-	25,050	2153	3168	3698	4131	4544	4939
25,051		25,100	2155	3173	3704	4138	4551	4947
25,101		25,150	2158	3177	3710	4144	4559	4956
25,151		25,200	2160	3182	3716	4151	4566	4964
25,201		25,250	2163	3186	3722	4158	4574	4972
25,251		25,300	2166	3190	3728	4165	4581	4980
25,301		25,350	2168	3195	3734	4171	4588	4988
25,351		25,400	2171	3199	3740	4178	4596	4996
25,401		25,450	2173	3204	3746	4185	4603	5004
25,451		25,500	2176	3208	3752	4192	4611	5012
25,501		25,550	2179	3213	3758	4198	4618	5020
25,551		25,600	2181	3217	3765	4205	4625	5028
25,601		25,650	2184	3222	3771	4212	4633	5036
25,651		25,700	2186	3226	3777	4218	4640	5044
25,701		25,750	2189	3231	3783	4225	4648	5052
25,751		25,800	2192	3235	3789	4232	4655	5060
25,801		25,850	2194	3240	3795	4239	4662	5068
25,851		25,900	2197	3244	3801	4245	4670	5076
25,901		25,950	2199	3249	3807	4252	4677	5084
25,951		26,000	2202	3253	3813	4259	4685	5092
26,001		26,050	2205	3257	3819	4265	4692	5100
26,051		26,100	2207	3262	3825	4272	4699	5108
26,101		26,150	2210	3266	3831	4279	4707	5116
26,151		26,200	2212	3271	3837	4286	4714	5124
26,201		26,250	2215	3275	3843	4292	4722	5132
26,251		26,300	2218	3280	3849	4299	4729	5140
26,301		26,350	2220	3284	3855	4306	4736	5148
26,351		26,400	2223	3289	3861	4313	4744	5157
26,401		26,450	2225	3293	3867	4319	4751	5165
26,451		26,500	2228	3298	3873	4326	4759	5173
26,501		26,550	2231	3302	3879	4333	4766	5181
26,551		26,600	2233	3307	3885	4339	4773	5189

26,601	26,650	2236	3311	3891	4346	4781	5197
26,651	26,700	2238	3315	3897	4353	4788	5205
26,701	26,750	2241	3320	3902	4359	4794	5212
26,751	26,800	2244	3323	3906	4363	4800	5217
26,801	26,850	2246	3327	3911	4368	4805	5223
26,851	26,900	2249	3331	3915	4373	4810	5229
26,901	26,950	2252	3335	3919	4378	4816	5235
26,951	27,000	2255	3339	3924	4383	4821	5241
27,001	27,050	2257	3343	3928	4388	4827	5246
27,051	27,100	2260	3347	3933	4393	4832	5252
27,101	27,150	2263	3350	3937	4398	4837	5258
27,151	27,200	2265	3354	3941	4402	4843	5264
27,201	27,250	2268	3358	3946	4407	4848	5270
27,251	27,300	2271	3362	3950	4412	4853	5276
27,301	27,350	2273	3366	3954	4417	4859	5281
27,351	27,400	2276	3370	3959	4422	4864	5287
27,401	27,450	2279	3374	3963	4427	4869	5293
27,451	27,500	2282	3377	3967	4432	4875	5299
27,501	27,550	2284	3381	3972	4436	4880	5305
27,551	27,600	2287	3385	3976	4441	4885	5311
27,601	27,650	2290	3389	3981	4446	4891	5316
27,651	27,700	2292	3393	3985	4451	4896	5322
27,701	27,750	2295	3397	3989	4456	4902	5328
27,751	27,800	2298	3401	3994	4461	4907	5334
27,801	27,850	2300	3404	3998	4466	4912	5340
27,851	27,900	2303	3408	4002	4471	4918	5345
27,901	27,950	2306	3412	4007	4475	4923	5351
27,951	28,000	2309	3416	4011	4480	4928	5357
28,001	28,050	2311	3420	4015	4485	4934	5363
28,051	28,100	2314	3424	4020	4490	4939	5369
28,101	28,150	2317	3428	4024	4495	4944	5375
28,151	28,200	2319	3431	4028	4500	4950	5380
28,201	28,250	2322	3435	4033	4505	4955	5386
28,251	28,300	2325	3439	4037	4510	4961	5392
28,301	28,350	2327	3443	4042	4514	4966	5398
28,351	28,400	2330	3447	4046	4519	4971	5404
28,401	28,450	2333	3451	4050	4524	4977	5410
28,451	28,500	2335	3455	4055	4529	4982	5415
28,501	28,550	2338	3458	4059	4534	4987	5421
28,551	28,600	2341	3462	4063	4539	4993	5427
28,601	28,650	2344	3466	4068	4544	4998	5433
28,651	28,700	2346	3470	4072	4549	5003	5439
28,701	28,750	2349	3474	4076	4553	5009	5445

28,751	28,800	2352	3478	4081	4558	5014	5450
28,801	28,850	2354	3482	4085	4563	5019	5456
28,851	28,900	2357	3485	4090	4568	5025	5462
28,901	28,950	2360	3489	4094	4573	5030	5468
28,951	29,000	2362	3493	4098	4578	5036	5474
29,001	29,050	2365	3497	4103	4583	5041	5479
29,051	29,100	2368	3501	4107	4588	5046	5485
29,101	29,150	2371	3505	4111	4592	5052	5491
29,151	29,200	2373	3509	4116	4597	5057	5497
29,201	29,250	2376	3512	4120	4602	5062	5503
29,251	29,300	2379	3516	4124	4607	5068	5509
29,301	29,350	2381	3520	4129	4612	5073	5514
29,351	29,400	2384	3524	4133	4617	5078	5520
29,401	29,450	2387	3528	4138	4622	5084	5526
29,451	29,500	2389	3532	4142	4626	5089	5532
29,501	29,550	2392	3536	4146	4631	5094	5538
29,551	29,600	2395	3539	4151	4636	5100	5544
29,601	29,650	2397	3543	4155	4641	5105	5549
29,651	29,700	2400	3547	4159	4646	5111	5555
29,701	29,750	2403	3551	4164	4651	5116	5561
29,751	29,800	2406	3555	4168	4656	5121	5567
29,801	29,850	2408	3559	4172	4661	5127	5573
29,851	29,900	2411	3562	4177	4665	5132	5578
29,901	29,950	2414	3566	4181	4670	5137	5584
29,951	30,000	2416	3570	4185	4675	5143	5590
30,001	- 30,050	2419	3574	4190	4680	5148	5596
30,051	- 30,100	2422	3578	4194	4685	5153	5602
30,101	- 30,150	2424	3582	4199	4690	5159	5608
30,151	- 30,200	2427	3586	4203	4695	5164	5613
30,201	- 30,250	2430	3589	4207	4700	5170	5619
30,251	- 30,300	2433	3593	4212	4704	5175	5625
30,301	- 30,350	2435	3597	4216	4709	5180	5631
30,351	- 30,400	2438	3601	4220	4714	5186	5637
30,401	- 30,450	2441	3605	4225	4719	5191	5643
30,451	- 30,500	2443	3609	4229	4724	5196	5648
30,501	- 30,550	2446	3613	4233	4729	5202	5654
30,551	- 30,600	2449	3616	4238	4734	5207	5660
30,601	- 30,650	2451	3620	4242	4739	5212	5666
30,651	- 30,700	2454	3624	4247	4743	5218	5672
30,701	- 30,750	2457	3628	4251	4748	5223	5677
30,751	- 30,800	2460	3632	4255	4753	5228	5683
30,801	- 30,850	2462	3636	4260	4758	5234	5689
30,851	- 30,900	2465	3640	4264	4763	5239	5695

30,901	-	30,950	2468	3643	4268	4768	5245	5701
30,951	-	31,000	2470	3647	4273	4773	5250	5707
31,001	-	31,050	2473	3651	4277	4777	5255	5712
31,051	-	31,100	2476	3655	4281	4782	5261	5718
31,101	-	31,150	2478	3659	4286	4787	5266	5724
31,151	-	31,200	2481	3663	4290	4792	5271	5730
31,201	-	31,250	2484	3667	4295	4797	5277	5736
31,251	-	31,300	2486	3670	4299	4802	5282	5742
31,301	-	31,350	2489	3674	4303	4807	5287	5747
31,351	-	31,400	2492	3678	4308	4812	5293	5753
31,401	-	31,450	2495	3682	4312	4816	5298	5759
31,451	-	31,500	2497	3686	4316	4821	5303	5765
31,501	-	31,550	2500	3690	4321	4826	5309	5771
31,551	-	31,600	2503	3694	4325	4831	5314	5777
31,601	-	31,650	2505	3697	4329	4836	5320	5782
31,651	-	31,700	2508	3701	4334	4841	5325	5788
31,701	-	31,750	2511	3705	4338	4846	5330	5794
31,751	-	31,800	2513	3709	4342	4851	5336	5800
31,801	-	31,850	2516	3713	4347	4855	5341	5806
31,851	-	31,900	2519	3717	4351	4860	5346	5811
31,901	-	31,950	2522	3721	4356	4865	5352	5817
31,951	-	32,000	2524	3724	4360	4870	5357	5823
32,001	-	32,050	2527	3728	4364	4875	5362	5829
32,051	-	32,100	2530	3732	4369	4880	5368	5835
32,101	-	32,150	2532	3736	4373	4885	5373	5841
32,151	-	32,200	2535	3740	4377	4890	5378	5846
32,201	-	32,250	2538	3744	4382	4894	5384	5852
32,251	-	32,300	2540	3748	4386	4899	5389	5858
32,301	-	32,350	2543	3751	4390	4904	5395	5864
32,351	-	32,400	2546	3755	4395	4909	5400	5870
32,401	-	32,450	2549	3759	4399	4914	5405	5876
32,451	-	32,500	2551	3763	4404	4919	5411	5881
32,501	-	32,550	2554	3767	4408	4924	5416	5887
32,551	-	32,600	2557	3771	4412	4929	5421	5893
32,601	-	32,650	2559	3775	4417	4933	5427	5899
32,651	-	32,700	2562	3778	4421	4938	5432	5905
32,701	-	32,750	2565	3782	4425	4943	5437	5910
32,751	-	32,800	2567	3786	4430	4948	5443	5916
32,801	-	32,850	2570	3790	4434	4953	5448	5922
32,851	-	32,900	2573	3794	4438	4958	5454	5928
32,901	-	32,950	2575	3798	4443	4963	5459	5934
32,951	-	33,000	2578	3802	4447	4967	5464	5940
33,001	-	33,050	2581	3805	4452	4972	5470	5945



33,051	-	33,100	2584	3809	4456	4977	5475	5951
33,101	-	33,150	2586	3813	4460	4982	5480	5957
33,151	-	33,200	2589	3817	4465	4987	5486	5963
33,201	-	33,250	2592	3821	4469	4992	5491	5969
33,251	-	33,300	2594	3825	4473	4997	5496	5975
33,301	-	33,350	2597	3829	4478	5002	5502	5980
33,351	-	33,400	2600	3832	4482	5006	5507	5986
33,401	-	33,450	2602	3836	4486	5011	5512	5992
33,451	-	33,500	2605	3840	4491	5016	5518	5998
33,501	-	33,550	2608	3844	4495	5021	5523	6004
33,551	-	33,600	2611	3848	4500	5026	5529	6010
33,601	-	33,650	2613	3852	4504	5031	5534	6015
33,651	-	33,700	2616	3856	4508	5036	5539	6021
33,701	-	33,750	2619	3859	4513	5041	5545	6027
33,751	-	33,800	2621	3863	4517	5045	5550	6033
33,801	-	33,850	2624	3867	4521	5050	5555	6039
33,851	-	33,900	2627	3871	4526	5055	5561	6044
33,901	-	33,950	2629	3875	4530	5060	5566	6050
33,951	-	34,000	2632	3879	4534	5065	5571	6056
34,001	-	34,050	2635	3883	4539	5070	5577	6062
34,051	-	34,100	2638	3886	4543	5075	5582	6068
34,101	-	34,150	2640	3890	4547	5080	5587	6074
34,151	-	34,200	2643	3894	4552	5084	5593	6079
34,201	-	34,250	2646	3898	4556	5089	5598	6085
34,251	-	34,300	2648	3902	4561	5094	5604	6091
34,301	-	34,350	2651	3906	4565	5099	5609	6097
34,351	-	34,400	2654	3910	4569	5104	5614	6103
34,401	-	34,450	2656	3913	4574	5109	5620	6109
34,451	-	34,500	2659	3917	4578	5114	5625	6114
34,501	-	34,550	2662	3921	4582	5119	5630	6120
34,551	-	34,600	2664	3925	4587	5123	5636	6126
34,601	-	34,650	2667	3929	4591	5128	5641	6132
34,651	-	34,700	2670	3933	4595	5133	5646	6138
34,701	-	34,750	2673	3937	4600	5138	5652	6143
34,751	-	34,800	2675	3940	4604	5143	5657	6149
34,801	-	34,850	2678	3944	4609	5148	5663	6155
34,851	-	34,900	2681	3948	4613	5153	5668	6161
34,901	-	34,950	2683	3952	4617	5157	5673	6167
34,951	-	35,000	2686	3956	4622	5162	5679	6173
35,001	-	35,050	2689	3960	4626	5167	5684	6178
35,051		35,100	2691	3963	4630	5172	5689	6184
35,101		35,150	2694	3967	4635	5177	5695	6190
35,151		35,200	2697	3971	4639	5182	5700	6196

35,201	35,250	2700	3975	4643	5187	5705	6202
35,251	35,300	2702	3979	4648	5192	5711	6208
35,301	35,350	2705	3983	4652	5196	5716	6213
35,351	35,400	2708	3987	4657	5201	5721	6219
35,401	35,450	2710	3990	4661	5206	5727	6225
35,451	35,500	2713	3994	4665	5211	5732	6231
35,501	35,550	2716	3998	4670	5216	5738	6237
35,551	35,600	2718	4002	4674	5221	5743	6243
35,601	35,650	2721	4006	4678	5226	5748	6248
35,651	35,700	2724	4010	4683	5231	5754	6254
35,701	35,750	2727	4014	4687	5235	5759	6260
35,751	35,800	2729	4017	4691	5240	5764	6266
35,801	35,850	2732	4021	4696	5245	5770	6272
35,851	35,900	2735	4025	4700	5250	5775	6277
35,901	35,950	2737	4029	4704	5255	5780	6283
35,951	36,000	2740	4033	4709	5260	5786	6289
36,001	36,050	2743	4037	4713	5265	5791	6295
36,051	36,100	2745	4041	4718	5270	5796	6301
36,101	36,150	2748	4044	4722	5274	5802	6307
36,151	36,200	2751	4048	4726	5279	5807	6312
36,201	36,250	2753	4052	4731	5284	5813	6318
36,251	36,300	2756	4056	4735	5289	5818	6324
36,301	36,350	2759	4060	4739	5294	5823	6330
36,351	36,400	2762	4064	4744	5299	5829	6336
36,401	36,450	2764	4068	4748	5304	5834	6342
36,451	36,500	2767	4071	4752	5308	5839	6347
36,501	36,550	2770	4075	4757	5313	5845	6353
36,551	36,600	2772	4079	4761	5318	5850	6359
36,601	36,650	2775	4083	4766	5323	5855	6365
36,651	36,700	2778	4087	4770	5328	5861	6371
36,701	36,750	2780	4091	4774	5333	5866	6376
36,751	36,800	2783	4095	4779	5338	5871	6382
36,801	36,850	2786	4098	4783	5343	5877	6388
36,851	36,900	2789	4102	4787	5347	5882	6394
36,901	36,950	2791	4106	4792	5352	5888	6400
36,951	37,000	2794	4110	4796	5357	5893	6406
37,001	37,050	2797	4114	4800	5362	5898	6411
37,051	37,100	2799	4118	4805	5367	5904	6417
37,101	37,150	2802	4122	4809	5372	5909	6423
37,151	37,200	2805	4125	4814	5377	5914	6429
37,201	37,250	2807	4129	4818	5382	5920	6435
37,251	37,300	2810	4133	4822	5386	5925	6441
37,301	37,350	2813	4137	4827	5391	5930	6446

37,351	37,400	2816	4141	4831	5396	5936	6452
37,401	37,450	2818	4145	4835	5401	5941	6458
37,451	37,500	2821	4149	4840	5406	5947	6464
37,501	37,550	2824	4152	4844	5411	5952	6470
37,551	37,600	2826	4156	4848	5416	5957	6476
37,601	37,650	2829	4160	4853	5421	5963	6481
37,651	37,700	2832	4164	4857	5425	5968	6487
37,701	37,750	2834	4168	4861	5430	5973	6493
37,751	37,800	2837	4172	4866	5435	5979	6499
37,801	37,850	2840	4176	4870	5440	5984	6505
37,851	37,900	2842	4179	4875	5445	5989	6510
37,901	37,950	2845	4183	4879	5450	5995	6516
37,951	38,000	2848	4187	4883	5455	6000	6522
38,001	38,050	2851	4191	4888	5460	6005	6528
38,051	38,100	2853	4195	4892	5464	6011	6534
38,101	38,150	2856	4199	4896	5469	6016	6540
38,151	38,200	2859	4203	4901	5474	6022	6545
38,201	38,250	2861	4206	4905	5479	6027	6551
38,251	38,300	2864	4210	4909	5484	6032	6557
38,301	38,350	2867	4214	4914	5489	6038	6563
38,351	38,400	2869	4218	4918	5494	6043	6569
38,401	38,450	2872	4222	4923	5498	6048	6575
38,451	38,500	2875	4226	4927	5503	6054	6580
38,501	38,550	2878	4230	4931	5508	6059	6586
38,551	38,600	2880	4233	4936	5513	6064	6592
38,601	38,650	2883	4237	4940	5518	6070	6598
38,651	38,700	2886	4241	4944	5523	6075	6604
38,701	38,750	2888	4245	4949	5528	6080	6609
38,751	38,800	2891	4249	4953	5533	6086	6615
38,801	38,850	2894	4253	4957	5537	6091	6621
38,851	38,900	2896	4257	4962	5542	6097	6627
38,901	38,950	2899	4260	4966	5547	6102	6633
38,951	39,000	2902	4264	4971	5552	6107	6639
39,001	39,050	2905	4268	4975	5557	6113	6644
39,051	39,100	2907	4272	4979	5562	6118	6650
39,101	39,150	2910	4276	4984	5567	6123	6656
39,151	39,200	2913	4280	4988	5572	6129	6662
39,201	39,250	2915	4284	4992	5576	6134	6668
39,251	39,300	2918	4287	4997	5581	6139	6674
39,301	39,350	2921	4291	5001	5586	6145	6679
39,351	39,400	2923	4295	5005	5591	6150	6685
39,401	39,450	2926	4299	5010	5596	6156	6691
39,451	39,500	2929	4303	5014	5601	6161	6697

39,501	39,550	2931	4307	5018	5606	6166	6703
39,551	39,600	2934	4311	5023	5611	6172	6709
39,601	39,650	2937	4314	5027	5615	6177	6714
39,651	39,700	2940	4318	5032	5620	6182	6720
39,701	39,750	2942	4322	5036	5625	6188	6726
39,751	39,800	2945	4326	5040	5630	6193	6732
39,801	39,850	2948	4330	5045	5635	6198	6738
39,851	39,900	2950	4334	5049	5640	6204	6743
39,901	39,950	2953	4338	5053	5645	6209	6749
39,951	40,000	2956	4341	5058	5650	6214	6755

\*When there are more than six children and parent payer’s income is within the SSR, then guideline support should be calculated as an extra \$15 per child.

Income over \$40,000 or more

Combined Adjusted	<u>One Child</u>	Two Children	Three Children	Four Children	Five Children	Six Children
Gross Income	\$2,956 + 5.4% of Income Over \$40,000	\$4,341 + 7.7% of Income Over \$40,000	\$5,058+ 8.7% of Income Over \$40,000	\$5,650+ 9.7% of Income Over \$40,000	\$6,214+ 10.7% of Income Over \$40,000	\$6,755+ 11.6% of Income Over \$40,000

[8.50.108.15 NMAC - N, [xx/xx/2023](#)]

###

**TITLE 8 SOCIAL SERVICES**  
**CHAPTER 50 CHILD SUPPORT ENFORCEMENT PROGRAM**  
**PART 109 MEDICAL SUPPORT**

**8.50.109.1 ISSUING AGENCY:** New Mexico Human Services Department  
[8.50.109.1 NMAC - Rp 8 NMAC 5.CSE.000.1, 5/31/2001; A, 10/1/2003]

**8.50.109.2 SCOPE:** To the general public. For use by the Title IV-D agency and recipient of Title IV-D services.  
[8.50.109.2 NMAC - Rp 8 NMAC 5.CSE.000.2, 5/31/2001; A, 10/1/2003; A, 1/1/2022]

**8.50.109.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:** Public Assistance Act, Section 27-2-27 et seq., NMSA 1978. The human services department is designated as the single state agency for the enforcement of child and spousal support obligations pursuant to Title IV-D of the Social Security Act (42 USC 651 et. seq.).  
[8.50.109.3 NMAC - Rp 8 NMAC 5.CSE.000.3, 5/31/2001; A, 10/1/2003; A, 1/1/2022]

**8.50.109.4 DURATION:** Permanent.  
[8.50.109.4 NMAC - Rp 8 NMAC 5.CSE.000.4, 5/31/2001]

**8.50.109.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:** May 31, 2001.  
[8.50.109.5 NMAC - Rp 8 NMAC 5.CSE.000.5, 5/31/2001]

**8.50.109.6 OBJECTIVE:** To provide regulations in accordance with federal and state laws and regulations.  
[8.50.109.6 NMAC - Rp 8 NMAC 5.CSE.000.6, 5/31/2001; A, 10/1/2003; A, 8/14/2009; A, 1/1/2022]

**8.50.109.7 DEFINITIONS:** The following definitions apply to this part. Additional definitions may be found under child support enforcement program general provisions at 8.50.100.7 NMAC.

**A. “Cash medical support”** means an amount ordered to be paid toward ~~[the cost of health care coverage provided by a public entity (medicaid) or for other]~~ medical costs for minor child(ren) not covered by insurance.

**B. “Health care coverage** means health insurance coverage, generally associated with a medical, dental or vision plan of benefits, whether it be an employment-related or other group health plan, a health maintenance organization, a non-profit health plan, coverage provided by a public entity (medicaid), or any other type of health care coverage under which medical, vision or dental services are provided, regardless of service delivery mechanism. Any health care plan coverage of a minor child shall, at a minimum, meet the standards of minimum health care protection as defined in the New Mexico Insurance Code, Section 59A-23B NMSA 1978.

**C. “Medical support”** means cash medical support, health care coverage, dental insurance, vision insurance, or a percentage split between the custodial party and the non-custodial parent for uncovered medical bills for the minor child(ren).

**D. “National medical support notice” or “notice”** means a qualified notice pursuant to a court order sent to an employer stating that an employee’s children must be covered by the employment-related health care insurance plan if it is available and at a reasonable cost.  
[8.50.109.7 NMAC - N, 10/1/2003; A, 8/14/2009; A, 7/1/2021]

**8.50.109.8 ESTABLISHMENT OF MEDICAL SUPPORT:** All orders obtained by the IV-D agency must include a provision for medical support for the ~~[children]~~ minor child(ren). For the purposes of the IV-D program reporting, medical support includes any one of the following: private health insurance, public health care coverage (health, dental, or vision), provided by a public entity (medicaid), coverage through Indian health services (IHS), ~~[state children’s health insurance program (medicaid), or]~~ the defense enrollment eligibility reporting services (DEERS), cash medical support, or a percentage split of uncovered medical expenses for the minor ~~[children]~~ child(ren). Determination of a reasonable cash medical support obligation is pursuant to 45 CFR §303.31(a)(3). If the ~~[children]~~ child(ren) are covered by IHS, the IV-D agency will request that private care coverage or health care coverage provided by a public entity (medicaid) be provided by either or both parties, when available. If the non-custodial parent provides health care coverage and changes employment, and the new employer provides health care coverage, the IV-D agency must transfer notice of the provision to the new employer. The IV-D agency must request the inclusion of a medical support provision even when employment-related or other group health care

coverage is not available or when ~~[children]~~ the child(ren) cannot be added at the time the order is entered. Health care coverage provided by a public entity meets the standards required under the Mandatory Medical Support Act and either party can be deemed a medical support obligor if they meet eligibility requirements for health care coverage through a public entity (medicaid). ~~[The IV-D agency shall request the provision of cash medical support only if the case is actively enrolled in Title XIX medicaid at the time medical support is established or modified.]~~ The cost of health care coverage is calculated by determining the amount charged to the medical support obligor for adding the minor ~~[children]~~ to the existing coverage, or the difference between individual and family coverage. The reasonableness of the cost of the health care coverage ~~[will be determined by stipulation of the parties or by the court]~~ is if the cost to the party responsible for providing medical support does not exceed five percent of their gross income pursuant to 45 CFR §303.31(a)(b). The IV-D agency may request the provision of health care coverage by either or both the custodial party and the non-custodial parent and that the parties should be responsible for any uncovered medical expenses in proportion to their incomes on the current child support worksheet. If the court does not enter an order for medical support, the IV-D case record must specify that a provision for medical support was requested but was not issued, in accordance with 45 CFR §303.31(b)(1-4).  
[8.50.109.8 NMAC - Rp 8 NMAC 5.CSE.830, 5/31/2001; A, 10/1/2003; A, 8/14/2009; A, 7/1/2021; A, 1/1/2022]

**8.50.109.9 TIME FRAMES AND REQUIREMENTS:** For all referral cases, within ninety calendar days of locating a non-custodial parent or of establishing ~~[paternity,]~~ parentage, ~~[child or medical]~~ support ~~[order]~~ orders must be established or service of process must be completed to establish a support order. If service of process can not be completed, then the case record must reflect unsuccessful attempts to serve process. If the court dismisses a petition for support order without prejudice, the office must, at the time of dismissal, examine the reasons for dismissal and determine when it could be appropriate to seek ~~[an]~~ a support order in the future and seek a support order at that time.  
[8.50.109.9 NMAC - Rp 8 NMAC 5.CSE.831, 5/31/2001; A, 10/1/2003; A, 8/14/2009]

**8.50.109.10 AVAILABILITY OF MEDICAL CARE COVERAGE:** Medical support will be addressed in actions to establish, enforce, or modify a ~~[child support award]~~ support order for the minor ~~[children]~~ child(ren). All support orders obtained or modified by the IV-D agency will include a provision requiring either or both custodial party and the non-custodial parent to promptly inform the IV-D agency of the name and address of their current ~~[employers]~~ employer(s), whether either the custodial party or the non-custodial parent has access to health care coverage and, if so, the health care coverage policy information.

**A.** The non-custodial parent may be required to provide immediate health, dental, or vision care coverage for the minor children if health care coverage ~~[(not including Title XIX medicaid)]~~ is not available to the custodial party at a more reasonable cost than to the non-custodial parent for coverage of the minor ~~[child]~~ child(ren); and it is available to the non-custodial parent through an employment-related or other group health insurance plan, regardless of service delivery mechanism, which may be a labor organization, union, non-profit organization or professional association.

**B.** If medical care coverage is not available to the non-custodial parent through an employment-related or other group health care coverage plan, and health care coverage is not being provided by the custodial parent, the non-custodial ~~[party]~~ parent may be required to provide immediate health insurance coverage for the ~~[children]~~ minor child(ren) when it becomes available through an employment-related or other group health insurance plan.

**C.** Failure by a non-custodial parent to provide medical support for the minor children, and to provide information concerning health care coverage, will subject the non-custodial parent to legal proceedings requiring the non-custodial parent to show cause as to why the non-custodial parent should not be held in contempt of court for failure to fulfill the requirements of the court order. This will be true even if medical support is the only area in which the non-custodial parent is not in compliance with the terms of the order.

[8.50.109.10 NMAC - Rp 8 NMAC 5.CSE.832, 5/31/2001; A, 10/1/2003; A, 8/14/2009; A, 1/1/2022]

**8.50.109.11 PROVIDING CUSTODIAL ~~[PARENTS]~~ PARTIES WITH ~~[MEDICAL]~~ HEALTH CARE COVERAGE INFORMATION:** If the non-custodial parent is responsible for providing health care coverage, the IV-D agency will provide the custodial party with available health care coverage plan information when the non-custodial parent secures coverage for the ~~[dependent children]~~ minor child(ren). This includes any information available to the IV-D agency about the health care coverage plan that would permit a claim to be filed or services to be provided. In cases enforced by the national medical support notice, the health care coverage plan shall provide this information to the custodial party and the IV-D agency, as outlined on the notice.

[8.50.109.11 NMAC - Rp 8 NMAC 5.CSE.831, 5/31/2001; A, 10/1/2003; A, 8/14/2009; A, 1/1/2022]

**8.50.109.12 MONITORING AND ENFORCING COVERAGE:** In all cases in which there is a court order with no medical support ordered, the case will be reviewed pursuant to the IV-D agency's plan for automatic review of all IV-D cases every three years. Even if no other modification is expected, the IV-D agency must seek modification to include medical support, except in non-IV-A non-medicaid cases where the custodial party has not consented to the IV-D agency obtaining medical support. All remedies available for the collection and enforcement of child support apply to medical support. In cases where the non-custodial parent is required to provide health care coverage through an employment-related or other group health care coverage plan pursuant to a ~~[child]~~ support order, the IV-D agency shall use, where appropriate, the national medical support notice to enforce the provisions of health care coverage for the ~~[children]~~ minor child(ren).

**A.** The IV-D agency must use the notice, when appropriate, to notify employers of the provision for health care coverage of the ~~[children]~~ minor child(ren). The IV-D agency must transfer the notice to the employer within two business days after the date of entry of an employee who is an obligor in a IV-D case in the state directory of new hires.

**B.** Employers must transfer the notice to the appropriate group health care coverage plan for which the ~~[children]~~ minor child(ren) are eligible within twenty business days after the date of the notice.

**C.** Employers must withhold any obligation of the employee for employee contributions necessary for coverage of the ~~[children]~~ minor child(ren) and send any amount withheld directly to the health care coverage plan. Employees may contest the withholding based on a mistake of fact. If the employee contests such withholding, the employer must proceed with withholding until such time as the employer receives notice from the IV-D agency that the contest is resolved.

**D.** Upon receipt of the national medical support notice, the ~~[health care coverage plan]~~ employer shall enroll the medical support obligor's ~~[children]~~ child(ren) in a qualified health care coverage plan as eligible dependents. Except as specifically outlined on the notice, the health care coverage plan shall not be required to provide benefits or eligibility for such benefits in addition to those provided under the terms of the plan immediately before receipt of the notice.

**E.** If the medical support obligor is enrolled in a qualified health care coverage plan, the ~~[children]~~ minor child(ren) shall be enrolled in the same plan in which the obligor is enrolled. If the medical support obligor is not enrolled in a qualified health care coverage plan, the premiums charged for enrollment of the ~~[children]~~ minor child(ren) only shall be the same as would be charged for enrollment of the medical support obligor only. If the medical support obligor is not enrolled in a qualified health care coverage plan and there is more than one plan option available for enrollment of the ~~[children]~~ minor child(ren), the ~~[plan]~~ employer shall notify the IV-D agency and the IV-D agency, in consultation with the custodial party, will select a qualified health care coverage plan option. If the custodial party does not notify the agency of the selected plan option within the timeframe required by the agency, the ~~[children]~~ minor child(ren) shall be enrolled in the qualified health care coverage plan's default option, which is defined as the least costly health care coverage plan that conforms with the minimum health care protection as defined in the New Mexico Insurance Code, Section 59A-23B-1 et seq NMSA 1978.

**F.** The health care coverage plan must notify the IV-D agency of the status of health care coverage for the ~~[children]~~ minor child(ren), as outlined on the notice, within forty business days after the date of the notice. The plan shall also promptly notify the custodial party of the plan coverage and effective date, as outlined on the notice.

**G.** Employers must notify the IV-D agency promptly whenever the medical support obligor's employment is terminated, in the same manner as is required for income withholding cases.

**H.** The IV-D agency must promptly notify the employer when there is no longer a current order for medical support in effect for which the IV-D agency is responsible.

**I.** In instances in which a minor child is covered through a public entity, the medical support obligor is required to maintain the recertification of the health care coverage as long as the medical support obligor meets eligibility requirements.

[8.50.109.12 NMAC - Rp 8 NMAC 5.CSE.832.2, 5/31/2001; A, 10/1/2003; A, 8/14/2009; A, 1/1/2022]

**8.50.109.13 MEDICAL SUPPORT PROVIDED BY THE CUSTODIAL PARTY:** In cases where the custodial party has satisfactory medical care coverage for the minor ~~[children]~~ child(ren) other than medicaid, the amount expended by the custodial party for health care coverage will be taken into account pursuant to the New Mexico child support guidelines worksheet that will be attached to the order. The IV-D agency will not enforce court ordered medical support against a custodial party.

[8.50.109.13 NMAC - Rp 8 NMAC 5.CSE.832.3, 5/31/2001; A, 10/1/2003; A, 8/14/2009; A, 1/1/2022]

**8.50.109.14 COMMUNICATION WITH THE MEDICAL ASSISTANCE DIVISION:** The IV-D agency is required to relay information regarding private health, dental, or vision care coverage to the medical assistance division. This information includes newly obtained coverage, changes in coverage, or coverage lapses. The IV-D agency must report to the medical assistance division any medical support payments made directly to the custodial party if there is an assignment of medical support pursuant to 42 CFR 433.146. The IV-D agency in cooperation with the medical assistance division will communicate to determine if there are any lapses in health care coverage for medicaid applicant/recipient.

[8.50.109.14 NMAC - Rp 8 NMAC 5.CSE.832.4, 5/31/2001; A, 8/14/2009; A, 1/1/2022]

**8.50.109.15 ORDERING SPECIFIC DOLLAR AMOUNTS FOR MEDICAL SUPPORT:** The ~~court~~ support order should include a set amount and specify that the amount is designated for cash medical support, when, for example, there is no private health care coverage available. This amount should be in addition to and not in lieu of the non-custodial parent's obligation to pay a percentage of unreimbursed medical expenses. Either the custodial party or the non-custodial parent may request the court to order the provision of cash medical support. ~~[The IV-D agency will request the provision of cash medical support only if the children are actively enrolled in Title XIX medicaid at the time medical support is established or modified.]~~ The IV-D agency will enforce a provision for cash medical support established or modified by any party so long as the ~~court~~ support order designates a specific dollar amount to be paid in regular, equal installments (i.e. monthly, bi-weekly, weekly). If the order does not designate a specific dollar amount for medical support purposes, the agency is not required to collect the money. ~~[For example, if the non-custodial parent is ordered to pay for the child's orthodontia, but no dollar amount is ordered, the IV-D agency will not enforce this component of the order.]~~

[8.50.109.15 NMAC - Rp 8 NMAC 5.CSE.832.5, 5/31/2001; A, 10/1/2003; A, 8/14/2009; A, 1/1/2022]

**8.50.109.16 DISTRIBUTION OF MEDICAL SUPPORT:** The IV-D agency collects and distributes cash medical support and payments toward medical support judgments. ~~[Specific dollar amounts received for medical support must be sent to the medical assistance division for distribution when the case receives medicaid (Title XIX). When the case ceases to receive medicaid, the assignment of medical support terminates, except for amounts of any unpaid medical support obligations that accrued under the assignment. The IV-D agency will attempt to collect any unpaid dollar amounts designated in the court order for medical support and must forward the collection to the medical assistance division for distribution.]~~ Medical support ~~[is]~~ shall be distributed directly to the custodial party ~~[if the family is not currently receiving or has never received medicaid.]~~ when a court has ordered a cash medical support obligation in favor of the custodial party. The IV-D agency is not pursuing cash medical support on cases in which the child(ren) receive health care coverage through a public entity.

[8.50.109.16 NMAC - N, 10/1/2003; Repealed, 8/14/2009; 8.50.109.16 NMAC - N, 8/14/2009]

**8.50.109.17 FEES:** In IV-D cases being enforced for medical support pursuant to the requirements of the national medical support notice, an employer may not assess a fee for withholding or for sending to the health care coverage plan, the employee contributions necessary for health care coverage of the ~~children~~ minor child(ren).

[8.50.109.17 NMAC - N, 10/1/2003; A, 8/14/2009; A, 1/1/2022]

**History of 8.50.109 NMAC:**

Pre-NMAC History: The material in this part was derived from that previously filed with the State Records Center and Archives:

ISD CSEB 501.1100, State and Local Requirements, 6/23/1980.

**NMAC History:**

8 NMAC 5.CSE.000 through 8 NMAC 5.CSE.970, 12/30/1994.

**History of Repealed Material:**

8 NMAC 5.CSE, Child Support Enforcement - Repealed 5/31/2001.



**TITLE 8 SOCIAL SERVICES**  
**CHAPTER 50 CHILD SUPPORT ENFORCEMENT PROGRAM**  
**PART 125 FEES, PAYMENTS, AND DISTRIBUTIONS**

**8.50.125.1 ISSUING AGENCY:** New Mexico Human Services Department - Child Support Enforcement Division.  
[8.50.125.1 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.125.1 NMAC, 9/1/2022]

**8.50.125.2 SCOPE:** To the general public. For use by the Title IV-D agency and recipients of IV-D services.  
[8.50.125.2 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.125.2 NMAC, 9/1/2022]

**8.50.125.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:** Public Assistance Act, Section 27-2-27 et seq., NMSA 1978. The human services department is designated as the single state agency for the enforcement of child and spousal support obligations pursuant to Title IV-D of the Social Security Act (42 USC 651 et. seq.).  
[8.50.125.3 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.125.3 NMAC, 9/1/2022]

**8.50.125.4 DURATION:** Permanent.  
[8.50.125.4 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.125.4 NMAC, 9/1/2022]

**8.50.125.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:** September 1, 2022, unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.  
[8.50.125.5 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.125.5 NMAC, 9/1/2022]

**8.50.125.6 OBJECTIVE:** To provide regulations in accordance with federal and state law and regulations.  
[8.50.125.6 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.125.6 NMAC, 9/1/2022]

**8.50.125.7 DEFINITIONS:** [RESERVED]  
[See 8.50.100.7 NMAC]

**8.50.125.8 CHILD SUPPORT PAYMENTS:**

**A.** The IV-D agency has in effect procedures for the payment of support through the IV-D agency upon the request of either the non-custodial party or the custodial party, regardless of whether arrearages exist or withholding procedures have been instituted. The IV-D agency is designated to administer the state's withholding system. The IV-D agency monitors all amounts paid and the dates of payments and records them on an individual payment record. As a condition of receiving IV-D services and cooperating with the IV-D agency, recipients must submit to the IV-D agency child support received directly from the non-custodial party. If the recipient of title XIX (medicaid) services elects to receive medical support services only, the recipient of title XIX (medicaid) services may keep child support payments received directly from the payor.

**B.** All support payments disbursed by the IV-D agency shall be through electronic funds transfer (EFT). The custodial party must elect to receive the payments via direct deposit or a pre-paid debit card authorized by the IV-D agency. If a custodial party receiving support payments fails to choose either option at the time of application or when requested by the IV-D agency, they will automatically be enrolled in the IV-D authorized pre-paid debit card program and will be sent a fee schedule. Exceptions to disbursements via EFT may be granted for exceptional circumstances. Those wishing to request an exemption should request an "EFT exemption form" from the IV-D agency. The form must be fully completed to include an explanation of the exceptional circumstances requiring an exemption from EFT. The IV-D agency will respond in writing either granting or denying the request for an exemption.

[8.50.125.8 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.125.8 NMAC, 9/1/2022]

**8.50.125.9 STATE DISBURSEMENT UNIT:** The state IV-D agency has established and operates a state disbursement unit (SDU) for the collection and disbursement of payments in all IV-D cases pursuant to 42 USC 654(a).

[8.50.125.9 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.125.9 NMAC, 9/1/2022]

**8.50.125.10 COLLECTION OF FEES/RECOUPMENTS:** New Mexico is a cost recovery state, and other states' IV-D agencies have been notified of this fact. All fees charged to the custodial party are deducted from

payments the IV-D agency distributes to the custodial party. The amount the IV-D agency deducts from each payment will not exceed ten percent of the total amount of the distribution. Once the percentage for the fee is deducted, the balance of the distribution is sent to the custodial party. Title IV-A, Title IV-E and medicaid-only (Title XIX) recipients are not charged any ~~fees;~~fee. Federal regulations will not allow cost recovery on these cases. A listing of any applicable fees will be given to all non-IV-D customers.

**A. Potential fee types: ~~and amounts:~~**

- (1) non-IV-D wage withholding payment processing only: ~~[\$25 (annually)];~~ actual cost;
- (2) non-IV-A full service IRS collection: ~~[applicable federal fee]~~ actual cost;
- (3) paternity genetic testing: ~~[as charged by lab]~~ actual cost;
- (4) non-IV-A/IV-E case processing: actual cost;
- (5) filing fee: actual cost;
- (6) witness fee: actual cost;
- (7) service of process: actual cost;
- (8) expert witness fee: actual cost;
- (9) court costs: ~~[as assessed]~~ actual cost;
- (10) establishment of support ~~[obligation]~~ order and paternity (if necessary): ~~[\$250]~~ actual

cost;

- (11) order modification: [\$150]; actual cost
- (12) enforcement actions: [\$250] actual cost;
- ~~[(13) tax intercept related: as determined by federal regulations;]~~
- ~~[(14)]~~ (13) IRS tax intercept service: [\$25] actual cost per intercept;
- ~~[(15)]~~ (14) TRD tax intercept service: [\$20;] actual cost per intercept;
- ~~[(16)]~~ (15) administrative offset: applicable federal fee[-];
- (16) parental kidnapping locator fee: ~~[\$60]~~ actual cost;
- (17) bad check: actual cost;
- (18) recoupment: actual cost.

**B. Refund of fees: Fees are to be refunded only under the following conditions:**

- (1) fees have been charged in error or overcharged;
- (2) the court orders a refund.

**C.** Fees are assessed to the custodial or non-custodial party requesting an action or service (i.e. establishment of paternity, modification or enforcement of support obligation) in a IV-D case in accordance with the fee schedule above.

**D.** Genetic testing fees: See 8.50.107.12 NMAC in addition to the fee schedule listed above.

**E.** Recoupment: The IV-D agency will recoup from the custodial party for any over-distribution of funds and for any funds collected from the non-custodial party that are returned for insufficient funds. If the recoupment is pursuant to an over-distribution of funds, the recoupment amount shall not exceed twenty-five percent of any future distribution to the custodial party until paid in full. If the recoupment is pursuant to insufficient funds received from the non-custodial party's payment, the recoupment amount shall be one hundred percent of any future distribution to the custodial party until paid in full.

[8.50.125.10 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.125.10 NMAC, 9/1/2022]

**8.50.125.11 DISTRIBUTION OF COLLECTIONS (EXCEPT FOR FEDERAL INCOME TAX REFUND OFFSETS):** Specific terms used in this section are derived from 42 USC 657 and 45 CFR 300 through 303.

**A.** In accordance with federal regulations, for purposes of distribution in a IV-D case, amounts collected, except for amounts collected through federal income tax refund offset, must be distributed as follows:

- (1) monthly payment ordered for current ongoing support;
- (2) monthly payment ordered for judgment on arrears;
- (3) current support delinquency;
- (4) past due support delinquency;
- (5) in each of the categories above, the payment is prioritized in the following order: child support, medical support, spousal support; any payment that is insufficient to meet the entire obligation will be applied in the order stated above.

**B.** The requirement to apply collections first to satisfy the current support obligation is critical in all IV-D cases to ensure that payment records are consistent in interstate cases, regardless of whether the amount

applied to current support is paid to the family (as in a former assistance case) or retained by the state to recover unreimbursed assistance in a current assistance case.

**C.** Current assistance cases: The state will (not exceeding the cumulative amount of unreimbursed assistance paid to the family):

- (1) pay to the federal government the federal share of the amount collected that is applied to assigned support;
- (2) retain the state share of the amount collected that is applied to assigned support; and
- (3) reduce the cumulative amount of unreimbursed assistance by the total amount collected that is applied to assigned support and disbursed under Paragraphs (1) and (2) of Subsection, C of 8.50.125.11 NMAC and distribute collections exceeding the cumulative amount of unreimbursed assistance to the family in excess of Paragraphs (1) and (2) of Subsection, C of 8.50.125.11 NMAC to satisfy never assigned support, unassigned support and conditionally assigned support.

**D.** The order in which collections are applied to satisfy assigned and unassigned arrearages in current assistance cases differ by state.

(1) For collections made prior to January 23, 2023, the state of New Mexico has selected the following option:

- (a) collections will be first applied to current support;
- (b) additional collections will be applied to temporarily assigned arrearages or conditionally assigned arrearages;
- (c) additional collections will be applied to permanently assigned arrearages and
- (d) additional collections will be applied to never assigned arrearages, unassigned pre-assistance arrearages and unassigned during assistance arrearages.

(2) For collections made effective on or after January 23, 2023, the state of New Mexico has selected the following option:

- (a) collections will be first applied to current support;
- (b) additional collections will be first applied to permanently assigned arrearages;
- (c) additional collections will be applied to temporarily assigned arrearages or conditionally assigned arrearages; and
- (d) additional collections will be applied to never assigned arrearages, unassigned Pre-assistance arrearages and unassigned during assistance arrearages.

**E.** Former assistance cases:

(1) For collections made prior to October 1, 1998, the state shall:

- (a) first, distribute the amount collected to satisfy the current monthly support obligation and pay that amount to the family;
- (b) second, distribute any amount above the current monthly support obligation to arrearages owed to the family or assigned to the state; the federal statute does not specify the order in which collections are applied to satisfy arrearages; the state must have procedures that specify the order in which assigned arrearages will be satisfied; if the state distributes any amount to assigned arrearages, the state must pay to the federal government the federal share of the amount so collected; the state must retain the state share of the amount so collected, with one exception; the state may retain or pay to the family the state share of collections applied to arrearages that accrued while the family was receiving assistance after October 1, 1996.

(2) For collections made on or after October 1, 1998, or earlier at state option, the state shall:

- (a) distribute the amount collected to satisfy the current monthly support obligation and pay that amount to the family;
- (b) distribute any amount above the current monthly support obligation to satisfy never-assigned arrearages and pay that amount to the family;
- (c) distribute any amount above amounts distributed in Subparagraphs (a) and (b) of this section to satisfy unassigned pre-assistance arrearages and conditionally-assigned arrearages in any order and pay that amount to the family;
- (d) distribute any amount above amounts distributed in Subparagraphs (a), (b) and (c) of this section to satisfy permanently-assigned arrearages; the state must pay the federal government the federal share of the amount collected that is applied to assigned support; the state must retain the state share of the amount so collected with one exception; the state may retain or pay to the family the state and federal share of collections applied to arrearages that accrued while the family was receiving assistance after October 1, 1996;

(e) reduce the cumulative amount of unreimbursed assistance by the total amount distributed under subparagraph (d), distribute collections exceeding the cumulative amount of unreimbursed assistance to satisfy unassigned during-assistance arrearages and pay those amounts to the family.

(3) For collections made effective on or after January 23, 2023 (other than through federal Income tax refund offset), the state shall:

(a) distribute the amount collected to satisfy the current monthly support obligation and pay that amount to the family;

(b) distribute any amount above the current monthly support obligation to satisfy never-assigned arrearages and pay that amount to the family;

(c) distribute any amount above amounts distributed in Subparagraphs (a) and (b) of Paragraph (3) of Subsection E of 8.50.125.11 NMAC to satisfy unassigned pre-assistance arrearages and pay that amount to the family;

(d) distribute any amount above amounts distributed in Subparagraphs (a), (b) and (c) of Paragraph (3) of Subsection E of 8.50.125.11 NMAC to satisfy unassigned during assistance arrearages and pay those amounts to the family;

(e) distribute any amount above amounts distributed in Subparagraphs (a), (b), (c) and (d) of Paragraph (3) of Subsection E of 8.50.125.11 NMAC to satisfy conditionally-assigned arrearages and pay that amount to the family; the state must pay the federal government the federal share of the amount collected that is applied to assigned support; the state must retain the state share of the amount so collected with one exception; the state may retain or pay to the family the state and federal share of collections applied to conditionally assigned arrearages; and

(f) distribute any amount above amounts distributed in Subparagraphs (a), (b), (c), (d) and (e) of Paragraph (3) of Subsection E of 8.50.125.11 NMAC to satisfy permanently-assigned arrearages and reduce the cumulative amount of unreimbursed assistance by the total amount distributed under Subparagraph (e) and (f) of this Paragraph; the state must pay the federal government the federal share of the amount collected that is applied to assigned support;; the state must retain the state share of the amount so collected with one exception; the state may retain or pay to the family the state and federal share of collections applied to permanently assigned arrearages;

F. Never-assistance cases: All support collections in never-assistance cases must be paid (less any applicable fees) to the family.

G. Collected funds will be distributed to the resident parent, legal guardian, caretaker relative having custody of or responsibility for the child or children, judicially-appointed conservator with a legal and fiduciary duty to the custodial parent and the child, or alternate caretaker designated in a record by the custodial parent. An alternate caretaker is a nonrelative caretaker who is designated in a record by the custodial parent to take care of the children for a temporary time period.

H. When the non-custodial parent has multiple cases with the IV-D agency, payments received from the non-custodial parent through wage withholding shall be distributed among all active cases on a pro-rata basis determined by the total amount of all monthly support obligations. Payments received through administrative enforcement mechanisms shall be distributed among multiple cases on a pro-rata split based on the total amount of arrearages owed at the time of the referral for administrative enforcement, except for reinstatement of license(s). Payments received for the reinstatement of licenses will be applied to the specific case(s) rather than split among multiple cases. Any other direct payments made by the non-custodial parent will be divided among all active cases involving the non-custodial parent.

[8.50.125.11 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.125.11 NMAC, 9/1/2022]

### **8.50.125.12 DISTRIBUTION OF COLLECTIONS THROUGH FEDERAL INCOME TAX REFUND**

**OFFSET:** Any amount of support collected through federal income tax refund offset may be retained by the state to the extent support arrearages have been assigned to the state up to the amount necessary to reimburse the state for cumulative amounts paid to the family as assistance by the state. The state will pay to the federal government the federal share of the amounts so retained. To the extent the amount collected exceeds the amount required to be retained, the state will pay the excess to the family.

A. Current assistance cases: Support collections through federal income tax refund offsets in current assistance cases are retained by the state up to the cumulative amount of unreimbursed assistance paid to the family. Collections over and above the cumulative amount of unreimbursed assistance are paid to the family. The order in which collections are applied to satisfy assigned and unassigned arrearages in current assistance cases differ by state.

(1) For collections made prior to January 23, 2023 the state of New Mexico has selected the following option:

- (a) collections will first be applied to temporarily assigned arrearages or conditionally assigned arrearages;
- (b) additional collections will be applied to permanently assigned arrearages; and
- (c) additional collections will be applied to never assigned arrearages, unassigned pre-assistance arrearages and unassigned during assistance arrearages.

(2) For collections made on or after January 23, 2023, the state of New Mexico has selected the following option:

- (a) collections will be first applied to current support (pass through described in Section 8.50.125.13 NMAC may apply here);
- (b) additional collections will be first applied to permanently assigned arrearages;
- (c) additional collections will be applied to temporarily assigned arrearages or conditionally assigned arrearages; and
- (d) additional collections will be applied to never assigned arrearages, unassigned pre-assistance arrearages and unassigned during assistance arrearages.

**B.** Former assistance cases: ~~[For support collections made through federal income tax refund offsets in former assistance cases, the state shall:]~~

(1) For collections made prior to January 23, 2023, the state has selected the following option:

- (a) Collections will first be applied to temporarily assigned arrearages or conditionally assigned arrearages;
- (b) Additional collections will be applied to permanently assigned arrearages;
- (c) Additional collections will be applied to never assigned arrearages, unassigned, pre-assistance arrearages and unassigned during assistance arrearages.

(2) For collections made on or after January 23, 2023, the state has selected the following option:

- ~~[1] (a)~~ distribute the amount collected to satisfy the current monthly support obligation and pay that amount to the family;
- ~~[2] (b)~~ distribute any amount above the current monthly support obligation to satisfy never-assigned arrearages and pay that amount to the family;
- ~~[3] (c)~~ distribute any amount above amounts distributed in Paragraphs ~~[(1) and (2)]~~ (a) and (b) of this subsection to satisfy unassigned pre-assistance arrearages and pay that amount to the family;
- ~~[4] (d)~~ distribute any amount above amounts distributed in Paragraphs ~~[(1), (2) and (3)]~~ (a), (b) and (c) of this subsection to satisfy unassigned during assistance arrearages and pay those amounts to the family;
- ~~[5] (e)~~ distribute any amount above amounts distributed in Paragraphs ~~[(1), (2), (3) and (4)]~~ (a), (b), (c) and (d) of this subsection to satisfy conditionally-assigned arrearages and pay that amount to the family; the state must pay the federal government the federal share of the amount collected that is applied to assigned support; the state must retain the state share of the amount so collected with one exception; the state may retain or pay to the family the state and federal share of collections applied to conditionally assigned arrearages; and
- ~~[6] (f)~~ distribute any amount above amounts distributed in Paragraphs ~~[(1), (2), (3), (4) and (5)]~~ (a), (b), (c), (d) and (e) of this subsection to satisfy permanently-assigned arrearages and reduce the cumulative amount of unreimbursed assistance by the total amount distributed under Paragraph ~~[(5) and (6)]~~ (e) and (f) of Subsection B(2) of 8.50.125.12 NMAC; the state must pay the federal government the federal share of the amount collected that is applied to assigned support; the state must retain the state share of the amount so collected with one exception; the state may retain or pay to the family the state and federal share of collections applied to permanently assigned arrearages and conditionally assigned arrearages.

**C.** Never-assistance cases: Support collections through federal income tax refund offsets in non-assistance cases are paid to the family.

[8.50.125.12 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.125.12 NMAC, 9/1/2022; A, 1/1/2024]

**8.50.125.13 CURRENT ASSISTANCE PASS THROUGH PAYMENTS:** At the discretion of the New Mexico legislature, the IV-D agency may disburse an amount based on budget availability (refer to NMSA § 27-2B-

7 and disregard for child support payments in 8.102.520.9 NMAC for allowable amount), to the IV-A service recipient from collections on current support. Under no circumstances is a current or former IV-A recipient entitled to receive said amount as part of the arrearages owed to them. The disbursement to the custodial party, up to the maximum amount, shall only be made if the recipient is currently receiving TANF and the IV-D agency collects a payment from the non-custodial party. If the non-custodial party pays less than the maximum amount allowed to pass through, the custodial party shall only receive the amount of the payment collected. Neither the IV-D agency nor the IV-A agency will pay the difference to the custodial party between the maximum pass through amount and the amount paid by the non-custodial party. If the custodial party has more than one IV-D case, they will only receive the lower of the amount of the maximum disregard or the current monthly collection received on all cases. A pass through payment is in addition to, not in lieu of, the monthly TANF payment.  
[8.50.125.13 NMAC - N, 9/1/2022]

**8.50.125.14 DISTRIBUTION OF COLLECTIONS IN TITLE IV-E FOSTER CARE CASES:** Amounts collected as support in Title IV-E foster care cases will be distributed in accordance with 45 CFR 302.52.  
[8.50.125.14 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.125.13 NMAC, 9/1/2022]

**8.50.125.15 ASSIGNED MEDICAL SUPPORT COLLECTIONS:** ~~[Any amounts collected by the IV-D agency that represent specific dollar amounts designated in the support order for medical purposes that have been assigned to the state will be forwarded to the medicaid agency for distribution. When a family ceases receiving assistance under the state's Title XIX (medicaid) plan, the assignment of medical support rights under section 1912 of the act terminates, except for the amount of any unpaid medical support obligation that has accrued under such assignment. The IV-D agency will attempt to collect any unpaid specific dollar amounts designated in the support order for medical support purposes. Under this requirement, any medical support collection made by the IV-D agency will be forwarded to the medicaid agency for distribution.]~~ The IV-D agency is not pursuing cash medical support on cases in which the child(ren) receives health care coverage through a public entity.  
[8.50.125.15 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.125.14 NMAC, 9/1/2022; A,1/1/2024]

**8.50.125.16 CHILD LEVEL ACCOUNTING:** An application for public assistance by any person constitutes an assignment by operation of law of any support rights the person is entitled to from any other person, whether the support rights are owed to the applicant or to any family member for whom the applicant is applying for or receiving assistance. Therefore, in current or former assistance cases, the IV-D agency may not use child-level accounting by splitting or pro-rating the family grant amount on a per-child basis when the child is (or was) included in the family unit and must continue to apply collections to the cumulative amount of unreimbursed assistance balances based on the total monthly family grant amount.  
[8.50.125.16 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.125.15 NMAC, 9/1/2022]

**8.50.125.17 CHILD SUPPORT RECEIVED DIRECTLY FROM PAYORS:** As a condition of receiving IV-D services, all recipients must submit to the IV-D agency all court ordered, voluntary agreement and voluntary contribution child support directly received from the non-custodial party. Failure to cooperate with this requirement may constitute cause for closing the IV-D case for non-cooperation. If the recipient of IV-D services elects to receive medical support services only, the recipient of IV-D services may keep child support payments received directly from the payor.  
[8.50.125.17 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.125.16 NMAC, 9/1/2022]

**8.50.125.18 CHILD SUPPORT COLLECTED FOR MEDICAID REFERRALS:** A medicaid only recipient, for whom an assignment of support rights is in effect, must receive medical support services but may choose to receive full services. If the recipient elects to receive full services, the recipient is required to turn over all child support received, to be distributed in accordance with federal and state regulations. If the recipient elects to receive only medical support services, the recipient may keep child support payments received directly from the payor.  
[8.50.125.18 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.125.17 NMAC, 9/1/2022]

**8.50.125.19 CHILD SUPPORT CASE SERVICES:** The IV-D agency provides two types of case services: full service and payment processing only.

**A.** Full services cases: Recipients of IV-A services are automatically enrolled for full services and recipients of title XIX may elect to receive full services for all support or solely for medical support. Full services

cases include all services listed below as specific services may not be selected. Applicants not receiving any type of public assistance may also request full services that include:

- (1) establishment of paternity;
- (2) establishment of a child support, medical support order, or both;
- (3) enforcement of a child support orders, spousal support orders (so long as there is a current order for child support), and medical support orders;
- (4) administrative enforcement of orders, including referrals for tax intercepts, passport denial, license revocation, and financial institution data match;
- (5) issuance of wage withholding against a non-custodial party's earnings/wages for support obligations; and
- (6) modification of child support orders, if appropriate.

**B.** Payment processing only cases: A custodial party currently receiving full services from the IV-D agency or opening a new case with the IV-D agency may elect to receive payment processing only services so long as they are not currently receiving public assistance (Title IV-A or Title XIX) and does not have an outstanding balance of arrears owed to the state for prior public assistance. Payment processing only services are charged an annual fee as stated in section 10, above. In order to receive payment processing only services, the custodial party must produce a valid court order (either issued by or registered by a court in New Mexico) for a support obligation that contains an income withholding provision or a copy of an income withholding order indicating that payments are to be sent to the IV-D agency.

- (1) The IV-D agency is not responsible for:
  - (a) establishing, modifying, or enforcing the support obligation;
  - (b) establishing, modifying, enforcing, sending, or terminating the income withholding order;
  - (c) calculating or determining the appropriate amount of support, payment toward arrears, delinquencies, and arrearages;
  - (d) appearing in court for any issues involving the establishment, modification, enforcement or termination of the support obligations.
- (2) The IV-D agency will provide either the custodial party or the non-custodial party a printout of the payments received by the IV-D agency after receiving a written request.
- (3) The IV-D agency may terminate the payment processing only services if no payments are received for a period of two months.

[8.50.125.19 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.125.18 NMAC, 9/1/2022]

**8.50.125.20 ISSUANCE OF REPLACEMENT WARRANTS:** If a custodial party or non-custodial parent claims that a warrant issued to him or her has not been received, a replacement warrant shall be issued only if the original warrant has not been redeemed or at the discretion of the IV-D agency. If the IV-D agency determines that a replacement warrant will be issued, any warrants that were fraudulently redeemed shall be reported by the intended recipient to the proper authorities as a pre-condition for the issuance of a replacement warrant. An unredeemed warrant is subject to the undistributed collections process, see 8.50.132 NMAC. The IV-D agency will replace a warrant that it can confirm was not redeemed and has not escheated to the IV-D agency through the undistributed collections process. If the IV-D agency is unable to confirm that a warrant has been redeemed due to the length of time that has passed since the warrant was issued, the IV-D agency will deny the request for a replacement warrant.

[8.50.125.20 NMAC - Rp, 8.50.125.19 NMAC, 9/1/2022]

**History of 8.50.125 NMAC:**

Pre-NMAC History: The material in this part was derived from that previously filed with the State Records Center and Archives:

ISD CSEB 501.1100, State and Local Requirements, 6/23/1980.

ISD CSEB 521.0000, Non-AFDC Fees and Costs, 6/23/1980.

ISD CSEB 521.0000, Non-AFDC Fees and Costs, 1/20/1981.

ISD CSEB 592.0000, Collection, 6/23/1980.

ISD CSEB 593.0000, Distribution, 6/23/1980.

**NMAC History:**

8 NMAC 5.CSE.000 through 8 NMAC 5.CSE.970, 12/30/1994.

**History of Repealed Material:**

8 NMAC 5.CSE, Child Support Enforcement - Repealed effective 5/31/2001.

8.50.125 NMAC, Fees, Payments, and Distributions, filed 5/14/2001 - Repealed effective 12/30/2010.

8.50.125 NMAC, Fees, Payments, and Distributions, filed 12/13/2010 - Repealed effective 9/1/2022.

**Other:** 8.50.125 NMAC, Fees, Payments, and Distributions, filed 5/14/2001 Replaced by 8.50.125 NMAC, Fees, Payments, and Distributions effective 12/30/2010.

8.50.125 NMAC, Fees, Payments, and Distributions, filed 12/13/2010 Replaced by 8.50.125 NMAC, Fees, Payments, and Distributions effective 9/1/2022.



**Notice of Repeal**

The Human Services Department is approving a repeal of its rule 8.50.108 NMAC - Establishment and Modification of Support Order, filed 12/30/2009 and replaced with 8.50.125 NMAC – Establishment and Modification of Support Order, adopted 12/19/2023 and effective 1/1/2024.

The Human Services Department is approving a repeal of its rule 8.50.109 NMAC - Medical Support, filed 5/31/2001 and replaced with 8.50.109 NMAC – Medical Support, adopted 12/19/2023 and effective 01/01/2024.